

# Waves in embryonic development

Stefano Di Talia, Massimo Vergassola

## ▶ To cite this version:

Stefano Di Talia, Massimo Vergassola. Waves in embryonic development. Annual review of biophysics and bioengineering, 2022, 51 (1), pp.327-353. 10.1146/annurev-biophys-111521-102500. hal-04296519

## HAL Id: hal-04296519 https://hal.science/hal-04296519

Submitted on 20 Nov 2023

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# Waves in embryonic development

### Stefano Di Talia,<sup>1</sup> and Massimo Vergassola<sup>2,3</sup>

 $^{1}\mathrm{Department}$  of Cell Biology, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC, USA

<sup>2</sup>Laboratoire de physique de l'École Normale Supérieure, CNRS, PSL Research University, Sorbonne Université, Paris, France

<sup>3</sup>Department of Physics, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, USA

#### Keywords

Waves, embryonic development, reaction-diffusion systems, bistability, trigger waves, sweep waves, excitable systems, coupled nonlinear oscillators, mitotic waves, somitogenesis, bone regeneration, pattern formation, body plan

#### Abstract

Embryonic development hinges on effective coordination of molecular events across space and time. Waves have recently emerged as an ubiquitous mechanism that ensure rapid spreading of regulatory signals across embryos, as well as reliable control of their patterning, namely for the emergence of body plan structures. Here, we review a selection of recent quantitative work on signaling waves, and present an overview of theory of waves. Our aim is to provide a succinct, yet comprehensive guiding reference for the theoretical frameworks by which signaling waves can arise in embryos. We start then from reaction-diffusion systems, both static and time-dependent, move to excitable dynamics and conclude with systems of coupled oscillators. We link these theoretical models to molecular mechanisms recently elucidated for the control of mitotic waves in early embryos, patterning of the vertebrate body axis, micropattern cultures and bone regeneration. Our goal is to inspire experimental work that will advance theory in development and bridge its predictions to quantitative biological observations.

#### Contents

1 Introduction	3
2. Selected examples of veves in embranic development	2
2. Selected examples of waves in embryonic development	5
2.1 Time independent bitshole gratering and trigger upug	6
3.1. Time-independent bistable systems and trigger waves	0
3.2. Time-dependent distable systems and sweep waves	ð
3.3. Phase vs. trigger waves	9
4. Waves in excitable systems	10
4.1. The FitzHugh-Nagumo (FHN) model	11
4.2. Excitatory dynamics in the FHN model	11
4.3. Wave propagation in the FHN model	12
5. Waves in coupled oscillators	14
5.1. Waves for coupled oscillators close to a supercritical Hopf bifurcation	14
5.2. Weakly perturbed nonlinear oscillators	15
5.3. Waves in chains of coupled oscillators	17
5.4. Waves and twisted states in rings of coupled oscillators	18
6. Toward bridging experiments and theory	18
6.1. Mitotic waves	18
6.2. Barrier experiments are not a smoking gun for phase vs. trigger waves	19
6.3. Somitogenesis	21
6.4. Erk waves	22
7. Future perspectives	22
A. Linear stability of bistable wavefront profiles	24
B. Basins of attraction and threshold property in bistable systems	24
C. Dynamical-systems arguments for wave propagation in static bistable systems	25
D. Two solvable cases of bistable trigger waves	27
D 1 Piecewise linear	27
D 2 Cubic force	28
E Effects of noise on the velocity of histable trigger waves	28
F Time-dependent histable systems	29
G EHN stability analysis	32
H Wave trains in excitable systems	32
L Fisher-Kolmogorov waves for a guadratically unstable potential	32
L Curvature affects in multi dimensional fronts	34
1. Fikepal type equations	34
K. The dynamics close to a Heaf hiturcation	36
	27
M Stability of Japane ways in the Circhweg Landau equation	20
N. Stability of plane waves in the Gilzburg-Landau equation	20
N. France waves in reaction-diffusion equations close to a hopf bifurcation	39
N.I. The steps of the proof	40
D. The advect service and advect service servi	40
P. The phase sensitivity function and phase resetting curve	41
P.1. The sensitivity function solves the adjoint equation	41
P.2. I wo types of phase transition curves	43
Q. Frequency entrainment and phase locking	44
K. Stability of waves in chains of coupled oscillators	45

#### 1. Introduction

Timely and precise coordination of biochemical signals across a wide range of spatial and temporal scales is required for proper development (117, 91, 172, 147). At the basis of this coordination are molecular and physical mechanisms ensuring that cells act collectively. This coordination is observed across hundreds of microns and cells, and a wide range of timescales (minutes to days). Both inter- and intra-cellular mechanisms of communication contribute to the collective dynamics observed during embryogenesis. Quantitative imaging methodologies allow us to probe the dynamics behind the collective regulation of embryogenesis. Signaling waves have emerged as a new principle of regulation of cellular dynamics (51, 25, 129). Waves can help synchronize signals across large spatial scales (hundreds of microns for typical cases in embryonic development), as well as organize signaling dynamics to ensure proper patterning of repeated structures. It is therefore timely to recapitulate the state of the art and provide a summary of theoretical ideas and methods that are relevant for the understanding of wave dynamics. These two goals constitute the motivation for our review and define its scope. We shall start by a brief overview of the phenomenology observed in a selection of developmental examples, which is followed by theoretical material on wave dynamics in various systems, bistable, excitable, and oscillatory. The main text provides a compendium that is integrated by more extended discussions and technical details in the appendices. Biological examples are then revisited to discuss their current understanding, and we conclude by highlighting open issues and future challenges.

#### 2. Selected examples of waves in embryonic development

Our first example is provided by mitotic waves of early embryogenesis. In most metazoans, early embryogenesis unfolds outside of the mother, which puts a strong evolutionary pressure for embryos to be large (to store nutrients and genetic material) and develop quickly (to avoid predation) (121). Consistent with this idea, embryos of many species undergo very rapid and synchronous cleavage divisions at the beginning of development (122). Drosophila embryos are (approximate) ellipsoids of about  $500 \mu m$  in length and  $200 \mu m$  in the perpendicular directions. In the early stages, embryos develop as a syncytium, that is a large multinucleated cell that allows for cytoplasmic diffusion. All nuclei in the embryo divide within two minutes from each other and mitosis proceeds in wave-like patterns (43, 68, 26), as shown in Fig. 1. Similar waves are observed in *Xenopus* embryos (130). The importance of these repeated waves is likely to ensure that all nuclei reach at about the same time gastrulation, which requires spatiotemporal coordination to ensure the proper setting of the body plan (88, 98). Drosophila embryos consistently undergo 13 nuclear divisions before a long pause in cell division at the maternal-to-zygotic transition (MZT) (37). This transition coincides with the time when the embryo switches from predominantly maternal control to zygotic contributions to development (37, 12, 87). Thus, mitotic waves contribute significantly to the control of a crucial developmental transition. Moreover, waves do not have fixed dynamic properties but undergo changes that coincide with the developmental reprogramming of nuclear cycles. A slowdown of about 3-fold in the speed of mitotic waves is observed as cell cycle lengthens with the approach to the MZT (68). The slowdown is controlled by activation of the DNA replication checkpoint (26) and mediated by the activity of Chk1 (37, 146, 145, 153, 103, 154, 38). In summary, the early *Drosophila* embryo is a unique system for experiments and theory aimed at elucidating mechanisms and function of mitotic waves.



Mitotic waves in *Drosophila* embryos. A) Cartoon illustrating coordinated nuclear divisions that spread as traveling waves across the embryo. Two waves are shown: one starts from the prospective head (left) and the other from the prospective tail (right), respectively. Both of them spread along the antero-posterior axis toward the center of the embryo. B) Confocal images of embryos expressing HisAv-mRFP to visualize nuclei. Note the two waves spreading from the poles toward the interior. C) Heatmap of Cdk1 activity as a function of time and space along the anterior-posterior axis from nuclear cycle 10 to 13. The dotted/full line in cycle 13 indicate the time of mitotic entry/exit at each position. D) Cdk1 activity as function of time in different regions of the embryo. The slight shifts among the various curves allow to visualize direction and speed of traveling waves of Cdk1 activity.

Another developmental system where signaling waves are important and much quantitative work is being conducted is somitogenesis, which is crucial for laying the body plan of vertebrate animals. Somites are specified in the presomitic mesoderm (PSM) in a recurring, sequential manner, resulting in a segmented pattern (120, 66), see Fig. 2. At the core of this process is a sequence of signaling waves, which repetitively travel across the tissue (120, 66, 53, 100, 7, 85, 149, 143). Specifically, the activity of the major signaling pathway Notch propagates as a wave across the tissue, and induces the differentiation of a new segment into a somite, once the wave reaches the boundary defined by the last somite formed. The process repeats until the entire tissue is patterned. A similar phenomenology for the formation of periodic structures is observed in the patterning of short germ-band insects (139, 33). Thus, repeated waves represent a general mechanism for the morphogenesis of periodic spatial structures. Repeated traveling waves of Erk activity were also recently discovered in zebrafish bone regeneration, where they regulate tissue growth (24), and in the mouse inner ear, where they control collective cell migration (69).

In other systems, morphogenesis is driven by an individual wave traversing the tissue.



**Traveling waves in somitogenesis. A)** A cartoon representing the position of the pre-somitic mesoderm (PSM) in a mouse embryo (left). Gradients of Fgf/Wnt and Retinoic Acid in the tissue, its geometric organization, showing PSM and the somites already specified, and the activity of Notch in a given region of the tissue (right). The size of the PSM varies over the stages of development in a range that goes from a minimum  $\sim 0.5$  mm to a maximum  $\sim 1.4$  mm (155). **B)** Frequency gradient of Notch oscillations: the posterior oscillates at higher frequency than the anterior. **C)** Kymograph of a Notch activity reporter (LuVeLu) across an *ex-vivo* PSM culture. Adapted with permission from (85).

For example, in the formation of bird feathers and *Drosophila* ommatidia, periodic spatial structures are specified following a traveling wavefront of gene expression that traverses the entire tissue (63, 9, 135). In micropatterned cultures of human embryonic stem cells that mimic the formation of the primitive streak, a wave of Wnt signaling has been shown to control the Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) (99). Specifically, following addition of a Wnt ligand, cells in the culture undergo a E-cadherin dependent EMT, which is controlled by wave-like expression of the Wnt inhibitor Dkk1 (99). During *Drosophila* gastrulation, the invagination of the endoderm has been shown to be initiated by spatially restricted transcription of an activator of cell contractility, and propagated by a mechanical wave arising from a feedback mechanism that requires the activity of myosin motors (8). Similarly, the morphogenetic wave traveling across the *Drosophila* eye imaginal disc might integrate biochemical and mechanical inputs (48).

Collectively, the above biological examples highlight the role of traveling waves as a general principle for the spatiotemporal organization of multicellular systems. Our goal here is to provide the reader with a short, yet rather complete, presentation of theories for waves, and a grasp of how the interplay of theory and experiments is advancing our comprehension of mechanisms and function of developmental traveling waves.

#### 3. Waves in bistable reaction-diffusion systems

Motivated by previous experimental observations, we start here our overview of theoretical methods and ideas. We first consider bistable systems, static and time-dependent, and move then to excitable and oscillatory systems in the following two Sections. As it will be explained below and in Section 6.1, the dynamics of bistable systems is particularly relevant to the understanding of mitotic traveling waves illustrated in Fig. 1, *viz.* the nature of the observed waves, their speed and profile, as well as their dependence on parameters such as the speed of the cell cycle, temperature, Cdk1 diffusivity, level of biochemical noise, etc.

#### 3.1. Time-independent bistable systems and trigger waves

A static bistable dynamical system has two stable equilibrium states where it can rest (see Fig. 3). While both of them are locally stable, one of the two is generically globally stable and the other one just metastable. For spatially extended systems in the presence of diffusion, it is then possible to generate waves where regions at the stable level invade those at the metastable level, as we discuss hereafter. These bistable waves are distinct from Fisher-Kolmogorov waves, see (112), where a stable state invades an unstable one.

The model equation considered here is the reaction-diffusion equation

$$\frac{\partial \phi\left(\boldsymbol{x},t\right)}{\partial t} = D\Delta \phi\left(\boldsymbol{x},t\right) + F_0 f\left(\phi\right), \qquad 1.$$

where  $\phi(\mathbf{x}, t)$  is the scalar field (rescaled to be dimensionless) which features waves, e.g., the activity of the cell-cycle regulator Cdk1 for *Drosophila* early embryogenesis. The Laplacian  $\Delta = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i^2}$  accounts for diffusive effects and D is the diffusivity. Reaction terms depend on the (typically nonlinear) non-dimensional function f and the amplitude coefficient  $F_0$  (which has dimensions of inverse of time). The dimension of space is d yet we shall mostly consider one-dimensional fronts, with variations in a single direction x. The coefficients D and  $F_0$  in Eq. 1. are set to unity rescaling time and space by  $1/F_0$  and  $\sqrt{D/F_0}$ . The role of additional noise terms in Eq. 1. is discussed at the end of Section 3.1.2.

Bistability is embodied in the reaction term which has three fixed points, i.e., zeros of f, and the generic shape shown in Fig. 3A. The corresponding potential V, defined by  $f = -\frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi}$ , is shown in Fig. 3B. By a shift and rescaling of the field  $\phi$ , we can have the two minima of V at x = 0 and x = 1 (locally stable fixed points). The third zero of the force f corresponds to a maximum of the potential V, that is an unstable fixed point. Note that the force  $f(\phi)$  is static, contrary to Section 3.2 where time-dependent effects are considered.

**3.1.1. Trigger waves.** The spreading a wave corresponds to the existence of solutions  $\phi(x,t) = \varphi(\xi)$ , which is non-trivial as dependencies on x and t are reduced to a single variable  $\xi \equiv x - ct$ , where c is the wave speed coefficient (the speed in dimensional units is  $c\sqrt{F_0D}$ ). The ansatz reduces Eq. 1. to the ordinary differential equation (ODE):

$$\frac{d^2\varphi}{d\xi^2} = -c\frac{d\varphi}{d\xi} - f\left(\varphi\right) \,. \tag{2}$$

A major property of bistable reaction-diffusion systems is that they do support waves, which is reflected in Eq. 2. admitting solutions, as shown by the following mechanical analogy.

Interpreting  $\xi$  as "time", Eq. 2. is recognized as Newton's equation for a particle of unit mass, subject to friction with coefficient c, and to a force -f, i.e., moving into a potential

<sup>6</sup> Di Talia and Vergassola





Static bistable systems and trigger waves. A) A typical force profile  $f(\phi)$  for a bistable system. The black/open dots indicate stable/unstable fixed points (zeros of f). B) The corresponding potential  $V(\phi)$  defined by  $f = -\frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi}$ . Out of the two stable points, the rightmost is globally stable while the leftmost is metastable. C) The mechanical analogy presented in the text shows that the speed of the traveling wavefront shown in (D) is given by the friction coefficient needed for a ball rolling down from the highest peak of the inverse potential  $-V(\phi)$  to land exactly on the lowest peak. D) Traveling wavefront connecting the stable and the metastable points.

-V as shown in Fig. 3C. A wavefront profile as in Fig. 3D corresponds to a solution starting from the top of the hill at  $\varphi = 1$  (as  $\xi \to -\infty$ ) and landing on top of the hill at  $\varphi = 0$ (as  $\xi \to +\infty$ ). Stopping exactly on the top of the hill requires a particular value of the "friction coefficient" c, which dissipates the right amount to avoid rolling back or over the top. This entails that the wave profile and velocity are unique. In fact, further reducing the friction coefficient might allow to land again on top of the hill after some oscillations on the left of the origin. However, Appendix A shows that those non-monotonic solutions are linearly unstable (158). For global results on basins of attraction of traveling wavefronts, see Appendix B.

The above mechanical analogy also shows that the sign of the velocity c is determined by the depth of the minima of V, *viz.* the deeper (stable) state invades the (metastable) higher one. That is confirmed algebraically, multiplying Eq. 2. by  $\varphi' = d\varphi/d\xi$ , integrating and using that derivatives vanish at infinity, to finally obtain:

$$c = \frac{\int_0^1 f(\varphi) \, d\varphi}{\int_{-\infty}^\infty {\varphi'}^2 \, d\xi} = \frac{V(\varphi=0) - V(\varphi=1)}{\int_{-\infty}^\infty {\varphi'}^2 \, d\xi} \,. \tag{3}$$

Alternative arguments in Appendix C reach the same above conclusions by using dynamical-systems theory (151) to demonstrate that a heteroclinic trajectory connects the two saddle points  $\varphi = 0$  and  $\varphi = 1$  of Eq. 2.

**3.1.2. Determining the velocity and profile of fronts.** Eq. 2. has reduced the calculation of the velocity c and the wavefront to the integration of an ODE, yet the equation is still nonlinear and has two-point boundary conditions, which generally requires numerical methods. Two notable exceptions are piecewise linear and cubic forces, which are both analytically solvable (75) (see Appendix D). The wavefront profile for the cubic case has the simple expression:  $2\varphi(\xi) = 1 - \tanh(\xi/\ell)$ , with the width of the transition region  $\ell = 2\sqrt{2}$  multiplied by  $\sqrt{D/F_0}$  in the original units.

In general, the velocity and the profile can be determined by integrating numerically Eq. 2. with a large initial friction, which leads to landing in the intermediate minimum of the inverted potential -V (see Fig. 3C). Friction is then reduced until the particle reaches the top of the hill at  $\varphi = 0$ . The corresponding value  $c = c^*$  yields the velocity of the wave in

dimensional units as  $c^*\sqrt{F_0D}$ . The expression with  $c^* = 2$  is commonly known as Luther's formula (94). The profile of the front is read from the "time" course of the corresponding trajectory at  $c^*$ . Corrections in discrete systems are discussed in Section 6.2.3 of (75).

A final remark on noise, which is widespread in spatially extended systems (49). Indeed, reaction terms in Eq. 1. often involve noisy processes, e.g., biochemical reactions. The resulting additional noise terms do play a major role in the nucleation of the "bumps" that will then spread as fronts (49), and for time-dependent situations, as discussed in Section 3.2. Our rationale for not including noise in this Section was that corrections to the velocity and the profile of a bistable front are relatively weak, as shown in Appendix E.

#### 3.2. Time-dependent bistable systems and sweep waves

Motivated by the phenomenology in Section 2 of *Drosophila* mitotic waves that take place on timescales comparable to variations associated to the cell cycle, we now consider the time-dependent version of Eq. 1.:

$$\frac{\partial \phi\left(\boldsymbol{x},t\right)}{\partial t} = D\Delta \phi\left(\boldsymbol{x},t\right) + f\left(\phi,t\right) + \sqrt{2\nu}\eta\left(\boldsymbol{x},t\right), \qquad 4.$$

where the (white) noise  $\eta$  is now included for the reasons elucidated below, and the reaction term f depends on time as sketched in Fig. 4A. While the phenomenology described hereafter has general validity, it is convenient to consider the specific case

$$f(\phi,t) = -F_0\phi\left(\phi - \frac{1}{2}\right)(\phi - 1) + \beta t \equiv -F_0\left(\phi - \phi_0(t)\right)(\phi - a(t))\left(\phi - \phi_1(t)\right), \quad 5.$$

with  $\phi_0 \leq a < \phi_1$ . Initially, the unstable point a(0) = 1/2 so that the potential minima (see Fig. 3B) at  $\phi_0(0) = 0$  and  $\phi_1(0) = 1$  have the same depth. As time progresses, the time-dependent constant  $\beta t$  raises the force field, i.e., tilts the potential by  $-\beta t\phi$ , which shifts the zeros of f and favors the stability of  $\phi_1(t)$  vs.  $\phi_0(t)$  (see Fig. 4A). Bistability is eventually lost at the time  $t^*$  when  $\phi_0(t^*)$  and  $a(t^*)$  merge and then turn complex conjugate by a saddle-node bifurcation. Two dynamical phases can schematically be distinguished, as shown in Fig. 4.

• Phase I: adiabatic evolution. At early times, a system starting from  $\phi(x, 0) \sim 0$  will follow  $\phi_0(t)$  (adiabatic evolution). Indeed, as shown in the inset of Fig. 4A, the zero  $\phi_0(t)$  has a steep negative slope, i.e.,

$$f(\phi) \simeq -\frac{1}{\tau} \left(\phi - \phi_0(t)\right)$$
 with  $\tau^{-1}(t) = |f'(\phi_0(t))|$ . 6.

The reaction term acts then as a spring with equilibrium length  $\phi_0(t)$  and stiffness  $\tau^{-1}$ . Appendix F shows that its effect is to keep an average level  $\langle \phi \rangle \sim \phi_0(t)$  and tame fluctuations induced by the noise in Eq. 4. at a typical level  $\sqrt{\nu}$ . Correlations decay exponentially in space with a correlation length  $\lambda(t) = \sqrt{D\tau(t)}$  that grows with time due to the flattening of f at  $\phi_0$  (inset of Fig. 4A). The expression of  $\lambda(t)$ , which differs from the diffusive length  $\sqrt{Dt}$ , reflects the combined role of diffusive and reactive terms. In sum, during the early adiabatic phase, the  $\phi$  field grows as  $\phi_0(t)$  and establishes correlations on longer and longer spatial scales  $\lambda(t)$ . Section 6.1 will present supporting experimental evidence in *Drosophila* development.

<sup>8</sup> Di Talia and Vergassola

• Phase II: non-adiabatic dynamics around the bifurcation point. Phase I ends when the relaxation time  $\tau(t)$  becomes comparable to the time of variation of  $\phi_0(t)$  (Appendix F). The smaller is  $\beta$ , the later is the transition, yet it will eventually happen since  $\tau$  diverges at the saddle-node bifurcation. If noise drives an extended region above the unstable point a(t) before phase II sets in, then the trigger waves scenario (see Fig. 4B) of Section 3.1.1 applies; this regime holds for small  $\beta$  (see Appendix F for details). Conversely, for larger  $\beta$ 's the field  $\phi$  is driven to values around the minimum of f at times comparable to the time of the saddle-node bifurcation (see red curves in Fig. 4A). Around the bifurcation, the dynamics is mainly driven by the time-dependent component  $\beta(t - t^*)$  as the remainder of f in Eq. 5 is small (the so-called saddle-node ghost (151)). Being  $\phi$ -independent,  $\beta(t - t^*)$  raises the level of  $\phi$  without distorting it. Furthermore, diffusive effects may be neglected if  $\lambda(t)$  has grown enough. It is concluded (see Appendix F) that the profiles and the gradients created during phase I are swept up undistorted during phase II, as shown in Fig. 4B.

Gradients formed in phase I and swept up in phase II lead to the appearance of a phase wave (called "sweep" in (160)). Indeed, local maxima of  $\phi$  reach a threshold level first, then neighbors a little later, and so on along the gradients. The hallmark of a phase wave is that its velocity  $\propto 1/g$ , where g is the local gradient (79, 168). The other factor that determines the wave speed  $U_{sweep}$  is the rate at which the field  $\phi$  is swept up (see Fig. 4C-D). Analyzing the dynamics of these two factors (see Appendix F.), one finally arrives at the scaling law (160):

$$U_{sweep} = \frac{d\phi/dt}{g} \propto \frac{\beta^{7/12} D^{3/4}}{\nu^{1/2} F_0^{5/12}} \,. \tag{7}$$

The inverse dependency on  $F_0$  and the  $D^{3/4}$  contrast with the square-root for trigger waves in Section 3.1.2. Similarly, the  $\nu^{-1/2}$  scaling, which traces back to  $U_{sweep} \propto 1/g$ , contrasts with the weak dependency on noise found in Appendix E. In conclusion, sweep waves in time-dependent bistable systems have a different nature than trigger waves in static cases. This fundamental difference reflects in their dependence on dynamical parameters and their speed, which typically overcomes the maximum speed that a trigger wave can reach (160).

#### **3.3.** Phase vs. trigger waves

Phase waves are like the lights on a marquee or the chain of flashing strobe lamps at an airport runway: they reflect delays among spatial locations, and their spreading does not involve mutual interactions. That contrasts with trigger waves in Section 3.1.1. The speed of phase waves  $\propto 1/g$  can become arbitrarily large for shallow gradients (79, 168) (see Fig. 4C-D). All that explains why phase waves are sometimes dismissed as "pseudo waves" (168). While the absence of interactions is a fact, we would like to tame this stand. Indeed, gradients of delays in natural phenomena are not the action of an external watchmaker, but they are generated by some dynamical process that does couple the various spatial locations. It is then to be explained how gradients are generated, and why interactions matter during gradients' formation and not during the spreading of the phase wave. The example above of a transiently bistable system illustrates all of these points; consequences for barrier experiments and discrimination of phase vs. trigger waves are addressed in Section 6.2. Note finally that within the same dynamical system, and even the same wave, one can have a mixture of trigger and phase waves. For instance, traveling pulses in excitable systems can feature a trigger wave front and a phase wave back, as discussed in Section 4.3.



**Transient bistability and sweep waves.** A) A typical force field  $f(\phi, t)$  that transitions from bistability at early times (blue) to monostability at late times (highest curve in red). As shown in Fig. 3, fixed points are the crossings of f with zero (indicated here by the black line). The three zeros in the bistable regime are denoted in the text as  $\phi_0(t)$ , a(t) and  $\phi_1(t)$ , from left to right. Profiles around the saddle-node bifurcation that leads to loss of bistability are shown in red. The inset zooms the blue curves around  $\phi_0$  to illustrate the progressive reduction of the corresponding slope. B) Ref. (160) shows that trigger waves (as in Section 3.1) are observed for slow transitions from bistability to monostability, whilst faster sweep waves are observed when the transition is rapid. Specific conditions for "rapid" and "slow" are discussed in the text and Appendix F. The panels show that the space-time profiles of the fields are markedly different in the two cases. C) The simple geometric argument showing that the speed of phase waves, such as sweep waves of Cdk1 in panel (B), have an inverse dependence on the phase gradient (79, 168). D) A kymograph illustrating the 1/g dependence for the idealized case in panel (C). E) Experimental data (160) demonstrating the 1/g dependence for Drosophila Cdk1 sweep waves.

#### 4. Waves in excitable systems

Contrary to bistable systems in Section 3, excitable systems have a single fixed point yet they are close to a bifurcation, which causes wild excursions that are the origin of their name (75). Indeed, while small perturbations (subthreshold) to the fixed points are dampened rapidly, perturbations of sufficient amplitude generate wide excursions before decaying, see Fig. 5A. Depending on the type of bifurcation that the fixed point is undergoing, different subthreshold relaxation processes and bursting are observed (70). Proximity to a bifurcation also accounts for the importance of noise, which can lead to a variety of effects, such as noise-induced oscillations, stochastic resonance and synchronization, reviewed in (92).

Excursions in excitable systems are exemplified by action potentials analyzed in the pioneering Hodgkin-Huxley model (64). A great deal of activity has therefore concentrated on neuroscience (70). Since then, excitable systems have spread to other textbook situations,

see (75), which include cardiac dynamics (23, 19, 73, 115) and *Dictyostelium discoideum* developmental processes (89, 77). Section 6.3 will discuss the relevance of excitable systems for somitogenesis shown in Fig. 2, and Section 6.4 will discuss ongoing work based on excitable models for Erk waves. Following our goals, we focus on the analysis of waves and the paradigmatic example of the FitzHugh-Nagumo model (42, 114), which lends to a synthetic presentation of the essence of excitability.

#### 4.1. The FitzHugh-Nagumo (FHN) model

The FHN model in its general form is defined by the following systems of equations:

$$\frac{\partial v\left(x,t\right)}{\partial t} = D\partial_x^2 v + \frac{1}{\tau_v} f\left(v,w\right) \, ; \qquad \frac{\partial w\left(x,t\right)}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{\tau_w} g\left(v,w\right) \, , \qquad \qquad 8.$$

where v and w are the excitatory/recovery variables, or propagator/controller in (40). The reaction function f typically embodies positive nonlinear feedbacks, e.g., related to the opening of ion channels for neurons. Conversely, the function g models negative feedback effects that lead to relaxation after an excitatory event, e.g., the closing of ion channels for neurons. The ratio  $r = \tau_v / \tau_w$  controls the separation in timescales between excitation and relaxation processes. Here, we shall suppose r small, and that the excitatory variable v spreads globally via diffusion while the recovery variable w is local.

Nullclines f = 0 and g = 0 intercept at a single stable point  $S = (v_s, w_s)$ , see Fig. 5. The nullcline f = 0 has a "cubic-like" shape and, in the range  $W_{min} < w < W_{max}$ , three intercepts with a horizontal line:  $V_r(w) \le V_u(w) \le V_e(w)$ , where the indices refer to "recovery", "unstable" and "excitatory", respectively (see Fig. 5B). The inhibitory effect of w on the growth of v and the increase of w as v increases are reflected by the requirements  $\partial f/\partial w < 0$  and  $\partial g/\partial v > 0$ . Finally,  $\partial g/\partial w < 0$  keeps in check recovery effects. The specific model in the works by FitzHugh (42) and Nagumo *et al.* (114) has  $f(v, w) = \tilde{f}(v) - w$  and g = bv - b'w, with  $\tilde{f}$  cubic-like, and b and b' parameters.

#### 4.2. Excitatory dynamics in the FHN model

To build up understanding of wave propagation, let us start by considering the dynamical behavior of an individual local element in Eq. 8., i.e.,  $D \equiv 0$ . The appeal of the FHN model is that its two-dimensional nature lends to phase-plane techniques (151). Fig. 5A illustrates the local stability of the fixed point S when it is on the left recovery branch (see Appendix G). Vice versa, when the fixed point is on the middle branch, the action of f on v tends to destabilize the system. That leads to a Hopf bifurcation (see Appendix G) and to trajectories flowing toward a limit cycle (see Fig. 5C). The bifurcation can be driven by applying a stimulus  $F_{app}$ , which moves up or down the profile of f. A notable developmental example is provided by the Erk waves in zebrafish scales (24, 59) discussed in Section 6.4.

Consequences of the proximity to a bifurcation point are shown in Fig. 5A: small fluctuations decay rapidly whilst large-amplitude fluctuations take a long detour before relaxing to the stable fixed point. Wide excursions are conveniently described in the limit  $r = \tau_v/\tau_w \ll$ 1. The trajectory will then stick close to the nullcline f = 0 on the recovering/excitatory branches, where it will vary on slow timescales as  $dw/dt = g(V_{r/e}(w), w) \equiv G_{r/e}(w)$ , respectively. Paths connecting the two branches cannot satisfy f = 0 and will be completed very rapidly, on timescales  $\sim r$ . The separation in timescales between v and w ensures that the corresponding variation of w is minor and the connecting paths are roughly horizontal



**Dynamics of FitzHugh-Nagumo (FHN) model. A)** Nullclines for the FHN model in the excitable regime. The fixed point is stable. In response to a perturbation below/above threshold (red open dot) the system relaxes to the stable state after a small/long excursion (blue/black arrows). **B)** In the range  $W_{min} < w < W_{max}$ , the nullcline f = 0 has three intercepts with a horizontal line:  $V_r(w) \leq V_u(w) \leq V_e(w)$ , where the indices refer to "recovery", "unstable" and "excitatory", respectively. **C)** Nullclines for the FHN model in the oscillatory regime, characterized by the existence of a limit cycle. **D)** & **E)** The geometry of excitable FHN traveling waves. The purple and red arrows indicate the fast processes that generate the front and the back of the wave pulse shown in (**F**). Panels (D) and (E) refer to the two cases discussed in the text : the speed of the wavefront is respectively smaller or larger than the maximal possible speed of the backfront, which is attained at  $W_{max}$ . As discussed in the text, phase waves of the Fisher-Kolmogorov type are observed for the situation of panel (E).

lines. Most of the time for completing a cycle is taken by the slow motion along the nullclines,  $T_e = \int_{w_s}^{W_{max}} \frac{du}{G_e(u)}$  and  $T_r = -\int_{w_s}^{W_{max}} \frac{du}{G_r(u)}$ , where  $w_s$  is the fixed-point value of w.

#### 4.3. Wave propagation in the FHN model

Reasoning in Section 4.2 also allows one to grasp wave propagation and establish the connection with bistable waves of Section 3.1.1. Let us indeed consider an initial state with the system at rest  $(v = v_s, w = w_s)$  for x > 0 and the variable v on the excitatory branch  $(v = V_e(w_s))$  for x < 0. Diffusion will smooth out the discontinuity at the origin into an upfront. To analyze its space-time profile, we introduce the wave variable  $\xi \equiv x/\sqrt{D\tau_v} - ct/\tau_v$ , analogous to that used for Eq. 2.. Inserting into Eq. 8., we obtain

$$v'' + cv' + f(v, w) = 0, \qquad -cw' = rg(v, w), \qquad 9.$$

where the prime indicates  $\xi$ -derivatives. The second equation states that w does not change over the profile, whence its name "controller" (40). For fixed w's, the first equation is identical to Eq. 2., i.e., it describes the velocity and profile of a wavefront that connects the two branches  $v \to V_{r,e}(w)$  as  $\xi \to \pm \infty$ . Eq. 3. for the velocity c shows that the



Effect of curvature on wave speed. A sketch of a planar and two curved wavefronts where the velocity increases (mid panel) or decreases (right panel) with respect to regions of no curvature.

profile moves with velocity  $c(w) \propto \int_{V_r(w)}^{V_e(w)} f(v, w) dv$ . Varying w in the "bistable" range  $W_{min} < w < W_{max}$  shown in Fig. 5B, we go from a maximum  $c_{max} > 0$  for  $w = W_{min}$  to a minimum  $c_{min} < 0$  for  $w = W_{max}$ . Fig. 5D has  $c(w_s) > 0$ , i.e., the up-front moves to the right for  $w = w_s$ .

So far, the dynamics is the same as for bistable systems. Differences stem from the recovery process in the back of the wave, which modifies the front of Fig. 3D into the pulse of Fig. 5F. Indeed, in the back of the up-front, w evolves according to Eq. 9. with  $v = V_e(w)$ . The recovery variable w will then increase (and v decrease) until the upper knee in Fig. 5A is reached: the system cannot stick to the nullcline f = 0 any longer, and a second front develops, which jumps down from  $V_e(W^*)$  to  $V_r(W^*)$ . In the back of the down-front, the recovery variable w evolves along  $v = V_r(w)$ , which drives the system to the steady-state S and completes the formation of the pulse. Analogously to the up-front, the down-front is governed by Eqs. 9., yet boundary conditions are reversed ( $v \to V_{e,r}(W_{max})$  as  $\xi \to \pm \infty$ ), so that its speed is initially  $|c_{min}|$  and it moves to the right. Two cases are possible (see Fig.5D-E):

- For  $c(w_s) \leq |c_{min}|$ , the speed of the down-front either matches or is faster than the up-front. In the latter case, the down-front tends to catch up the up-front and thereby moves towards lower values of w. During this process, the front progressively deforms and slows down until it reaches the value  $\overline{w}$  such that  $c(\overline{w}) = c(w_s)$ , which finally yields the stationary shape of the down-front and the whole pulse. Similar reasoning is used in Appendix H to analyze dispersion relations for periodic wave trains.
- For  $c(w_s) > |c_{min}|$ , the knee is reached, which is a locally unstable (and not metastable) point. This leads to Fisher-Kolmogorov waves with a continuous spectrum of velocities (112). The upshot of the analysis in Appendix I is that the (phase) wave that moves with the speed  $c(w_s)$  matching the up-front is eventually selected.

We conclude by a short comment about the effects of curvature onto the propagation of waves in excitable (or bistable) systems. The basic mechanism of wave spreading is that if a region is locally driven beyond threshold, then diffusion will drag neighboring regions across threshold, and reaction effects will drive them to the excitatory branch (or to the stable fixed point for bistable systems). Consider then cases in Fig. 6: in the middle one, the region before the wavefront is excited more rapidly than if the wavefront were planar, and the wave speed will then be greater; vice versa, it will be reduced (see Appendix J for details and equations).

#### 5. Waves in coupled oscillators

A common situation for an excitable system is its being close to a Hopf bifurcation: two conjugate imaginary eigenvalues cross the imaginary axis while all the others remain on the left half-plane, i.e., have their real parts negative (151). Stability is then lost and an oscillatory behavior sets in. Oscillators are ubiquitous in biology and the coupling of cellular oscillators can lead to interesting patterns in development. A notable example relevant to this review is somitogenesis shown in Fig. 2, which will be further discussed in Section 6.3. The role for the embryonic segmentation clock of the phase response curve and entrainment phenomena discussed below has recently been highlighted in (136).

An instance of Hopf bifurcation is the FHN model when the intercept of the two nullclines switches from the left to the middle branch, see Fig. 5 and Appendix G. The amplitude of the limit cycle close to a Hopf bifurcation can be small (supercritical bifurcation) or have a finite amplitude (subcritical bifurcation). Coupling of oscillatory units by diffusion leads to a system of coupled nonlinear oscillators that can support the propagation of waves, as we discuss in this Section. We start by waves close to a supercritical bifurcation, and move then to subcritical cases or oscillations far from a critical point.

#### 5.1. Waves for coupled oscillators close to a supercritical Hopf bifurcation

Close to bifurcations, one can reduce a generic nonlinear dynamical system to its normal form, that is a simplified form that preserves the essential features of the dynamics (151, 70). For a Hopf bifurcation, the normal form is the Stuart-Landau equation for the complex amplitude z of perturbations (see (58, 65, 82, 125, 126) and Appendix K for details):

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = z \left[ (a+ib) - (p+iq) \left| z \right|^2 \right] \,. \tag{10.}$$

The coefficient *a* becomes positive beyond the critical point, which drives instability and growth of perturbations. If p > 0 (supercritical case), then the nonlinear term blocks the growth at an amplitude  $|z| = \sqrt{a/p}$  and the other terms drive an oscillatory behavior  $z(t) = \sqrt{a/p} e^{i\omega_0 t}$  with frequency  $\omega_0 = b - aq/p$ . The solution is stable and 10. is recognized as a particular case of the  $\lambda$ - $\omega$  model (80) (see Appendix L). Since the coefficient *a* is small close to the bifurcation, the amplitude is also small (square-root of the deviation to the critical point), which is key to analytical progress. Conversely, if p < 0 (subcritical case), then higher-order nonlinear terms are involved in the saturation of the amplitude, which is generally not small. The sign of *p* is determined by the expression at page 156 of (58).

Waves appear when a field of the above Hopf oscillators are coupled, *viz.* by diffusion. The resulting Ginzburg-Landau equation (see (82) and Appendix K) reads:

which is encountered in a variety of natural situations (5). The parameters a, p and the diffusivity are set to unity by rescaling space, time and amplitude, while the b term is

<sup>14</sup> Di Talia and Vergassola

eliminated from Eq. 10. by considering  $ze^{-ibt}$ . Eq. 11. indeed admits plane waves solutions:

$$z(x,t) = A(k)e^{i(\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}-\omega(k)t)}, \qquad 12$$

with magnitude  $A(k) = \sqrt{1-k^2}$  and dispersion relation  $\omega(k) = c(1-k^2) + dk^2$ . Stability of the waves is governed by the Benjamin-Feir-Newell criterion discussed in Appendix M. Their nonlinear nature is witnessed by the fact that when two waves collide they almost do not interpenetrate and create shocks, contrary to linear waves (5). For other one-dimensional coherent structures, which include fronts and pulses, see (159). For two-dimensional spiral waves and three-dimensional coherent structures, see the review (5).

The generality of traveling wave solutions for reaction-diffusion systems close to a Hopf bifurcation was addressed in Ref. (80). The paper considers the equation

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{X}\left(\boldsymbol{x},t\right)}{\partial t} = \boldsymbol{F}\left(\boldsymbol{X}\right) + K\Delta\boldsymbol{X},$$
13.

and establishes the existence of small-amplitude plane waves when the diffusivity matrix K does not deviate much (see Appendix N for precise statements) from a scalar matrix. In plain words, cross-diffusivities should be relatively small and self-diffusivities close to one another. Eq. 13. admits a solution  $\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{h} (\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x} - \omega t)$  periodic in its argument. The idea of the proof (see Appendix N) is to exploit the Hopf structure of the Jacobian  $J_{ij} = \partial F_i / \partial X_j$  to control the spectrum of the linear dynamics of Eq. 13. (which is related to  $J - k^2 K$ ) and apply the Hopf bifurcation theorem (58) to establish the existence of a periodic solution.

#### 5.2. Weakly perturbed nonlinear oscillators

We now consider oscillations with arbitrary amplitude yet weakly perturbed, e.g., by an external forcing or interactions with other oscillators. Let us consider an *m*-dimensional dynamical system having a stable periodic orbit  $\Gamma$  with period  $T_0$ . In the *m*-dimensional phase space  $\mathbf{X} = (X_1, \ldots, X_m)$ ,  $\Gamma$  defines an isolated attractive closed orbit, as shown in Fig. 7A. Stability implies that there is a neighborhood of the orbit such that all trajectories starting in that neighborhood asymptotically converge to  $\Gamma$ . The position along the limit cycle can be characterized by a phase  $\Theta(\mathbf{X})$  that generalizes the azimuthal coordinate in a circumference. The phase  $\Theta$  steadily increases by  $2\pi$  while  $\Gamma$  is described, that is

$$\frac{d\Theta}{dt} = \omega_0 \,, \tag{14.}$$

where  $\omega_0 = 2\pi/T_0$ . The zero of the phase is arbitrary and defined conventionally, e.g., the firing for a tonic neuron (35). Any  $2\pi$ -periodic angular variable  $\theta(t)$  is converted into the (uniformly increasing) phase by  $\Theta = \omega_0 \int_0^\theta dt/\dot{\theta}$ .

Phases and Eq. 14., defined so far on  $\Gamma$  only, can be extended to the entire basin of attraction. For that, one uses that a point in the basin will eventually converge to  $\Gamma$  and defines its phase as the value  $\Theta$  on  $\Gamma$  that its trajectory will asymptotically match, see Fig. 7B. Surfaces of equal phase are called "isochrones" (164) and were systematically investigated in (57). Their shape for the Stuart-Landau Eq. 10. is calculated in Appendix O and shown in Fig. 7C. Isochrones have the important property (see Appendix O) that their phases progress at the same rate as on  $\Gamma$ , that is Eq. 14. is generally valid. The equation shows that, contrary to the other m-1 degrees of freedom that decay exponentially, a phase



**Phases and isochrones for nonlinear oscillators. A)** A limit cycle (bold curve), here for a two-dimensional dynamical system. The limit cycle  $\Gamma$  is stable as shown by neighboring trajectories attracted to the cycle. **B)** The phase for a point in the basin of attraction is defined by following its trajectory (red) and determining which trajectory on  $\Gamma$  (black) it will asymptotically match. **C)** The contour lines of the phases for the Stuart-Landau Eq. 10., a (rare) case where an explicit (spiral) form for the isochrones is known analytically, see Appendix O.

perturbation will not relax. If the system is at X on  $\Gamma$ , the phase shift  $\delta\Theta$  in response to a small perturbation  $\delta X$  is

$$\delta \Theta = \frac{\partial \Theta}{\partial \boldsymbol{X}} \cdot \delta \boldsymbol{X} \equiv \boldsymbol{Z} \left( \Theta \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{\delta} \boldsymbol{X} , \qquad 15.$$

where the vector function  $\boldsymbol{Z}(\Theta)$  is the linear response or sensitivity function (82). The direction of  $\boldsymbol{Z}$  is normal to the isochrone of  $\boldsymbol{X}$  and its length is determined by Eq. 14., which states (by the chain rule) that  $\boldsymbol{Z} \cdot \frac{d\boldsymbol{X}}{dt} = \omega_0$ . We refer to Appendix P for more properties of  $\boldsymbol{Z}$ , and its relation to the phase resetting curve (PRC) popularized in (165).

**5.2.1.** Phase dynamics. Phases, being a single variable, are more parsimonious than the original m degrees of freedom but do not fully describe the dynamical system. A concise description can still be achieved when limit cycles are perturbed weakly, as we discuss here. The simplest case of a limit cycle perturbed by a periodic forcing is considered in Appendix Q. We consider here the dynamics of n coupled oscillators

$$\frac{d\boldsymbol{X}_{i}}{dt} = \boldsymbol{F}_{i}\left(\boldsymbol{X}\right) + \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{n} \boldsymbol{g}_{ij}\left(\boldsymbol{X}_{i}, \boldsymbol{X}_{j}\right), \qquad i = 1, \dots, n, \qquad 16.$$

where each  $X_i$  is an *m*-dimensional vector. Each one of the uncoupled ( $\varepsilon = 0$ ) systems has a limit cycle described by a phase  $\Theta_i$  satisfying Eq. 14. with angular frequency  $(\omega_0)_i$ . Taking the time-derivative of  $\Theta_i(X_1, \ldots, X_n)$ , we obtain:

$$\frac{d\Theta_i}{dt} \simeq (\omega_0)_i + \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^n \boldsymbol{Z}^{(i)}(\Theta_i) \cdot \boldsymbol{g}_{ij} \left( \boldsymbol{X}_i(\Theta_i), \boldsymbol{X}_j(\Theta_j) \right) \equiv (\omega_0)_i + \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^n Q_{ij} \left( \Theta_i, \Theta_j \right) . \quad 17.$$

For the first step, we used  $\mathbf{Z}^{(i)} \cdot \mathbf{F}_i = (\omega_0)_i$  and the key approximation of weak-coupling: since the coupling  $\varepsilon$  is small, derivatives  $\frac{\partial \Theta_i}{\partial \mathbf{X}_j}$  are estimated on the unperturbed limit cycles and therefore depend on the phases only, which allows to close the equations.

As in swings and other resonant phenomena (151), the effect of couplings in Eq. 17. depends on the existence of resonances  $k_1 (\omega_0)_1 + \ldots k_n (\omega_0)_n \simeq 0$  for some appropriate set of integers  $k_1, \ldots k_n$ . Resonances ensure that perturbations, in spite of their being weak, have a sizeable effect. The simplest instance is when the  $\mathbf{F}_i$ 's are identical and frequency differences among the oscillators produced by the self-couplings  $\mathbf{g}_{ii}$  are then of order  $\varepsilon$ . For general resonances, see (65) and Appendix Q. Introducing  $\theta_i \equiv \Theta_i - \omega_0 t$ , we obtain  $\frac{d\theta_i}{dt} = \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^n Q_{ij}(\theta_i + \omega_0 t, \theta_j + \omega_0 t)$ , which shows that  $\theta$  variables vary slowly, on timescales of the order  $O(1/\varepsilon)$ . It is intuitively clear – and it can be demonstrated systematically (58, 65, 138) – that fast oscillations with the original period  $T_0$  do not matter for the longtime behavior and can be averaged out. In other words, one can replace the coupling terms by their averages over  $T_0$ . We finally conclude that the long-term evolution is governed by

$$\frac{d\theta_i}{\varepsilon dt} \simeq \omega_i + \sum_{j \neq i} q_{ij} \left(\theta_j - \theta_i\right) \,. \tag{18.}$$

where  $q_{ij} \equiv \frac{1}{T_0} \int_0^{T_0} Q_{ij}(\theta_i + \omega_0 t, \theta_j + \omega_0 t) dt$  and the frequency shifts  $\omega_i \equiv Q_{ii}(0)$ . For two coupled oscillators, Eq. 18. yields for the phase difference  $\psi \equiv \theta_2 - \theta_1$ :

$$\dot{\psi} = -\Delta\omega + q\left(\psi\right)$$
, 19.

where the dot denotes derivative with respect to the slow time  $\varepsilon t$ , the frequency mismatch  $\Delta \omega \equiv \omega_1 - \omega_2$  and the coupling  $q(\psi) = q_{21}(-\psi) - q_{12}(\psi)$ . For two identical oscillators, the coupling q is odd and  $\Delta \omega = 0$ , so that  $\psi = 0$  is always an equilibrium (possibly unstable). Eq. 19. has the same structure as for the entrainment by a periodic forcing (see Appendix Q). If min  $(q) < |\Delta \omega| < \max(q)$ , then Eq. 19. has stationary solutions  $\psi^* = q^{-1}(\Delta \omega)$ , which are stable or unstable depending on the derivative  $q'(\psi^*)$  being negative or positive. If a stable solution exists, then the two oscillators vary at the same frequency and keep a fixed phase difference  $\psi^*$ , which is an instance of the general phenomenon of synchronization (152) that underlies wave propagation discussed next. When the mismatch  $|\Delta \omega|$  is too strong, then the oscillators vary at different frequencies and phases drift apart (126).

#### 5.3. Waves in chains of coupled oscillators

We consider a chain of n oscillators with nearest-neighbor couplings. Eq. 18. reads

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\theta}_1 = \omega_1 + q^+ (\theta_2 - \theta_1) ; & \dot{\theta}_n = \omega_n + q^- (\theta_{n-1} - \theta_n) ; \\ \dot{\theta}_i = \omega_i + q^+ (\theta_{i+1} - \theta_i) + q^- (\theta_{i-1} - \theta_i) & \text{for } i = 2, \dots n - 1 . \end{cases}$$
20.

where  $q^{\pm}$  account for the coupling with the nearest oscillator on the right/left.

A traveling wave solution of Eq. 20.:  $\theta_i = \omega t - kx_i$ , has the oscillators varying at a common frequency  $\omega$  and their relative phases  $\phi_i = \theta_i - \omega t$  locked at values that monotonically vary along the chain by a fixed amount  $\Delta \phi \propto -k$ . The wavefront will travel with velocity  $v \propto \omega/k$ . The conditions for the existence of such traveling waves are most conveniently found by subtracting each equation from the second

$$\omega_2 + q^- (-\Delta \phi) = \omega_1; \quad \omega_2 = \omega_i; \quad \omega_2 + q^+ (\Delta \phi) = \omega_n, \qquad 21.$$

and subtracting the second from the sum of the first and the *n*-th equation:  $\omega = \omega_1 + \omega_n - \omega_2$ . Let us assume that couplings tend to pull neighboring oscillators into phase with

one another, i.e., that  $q^{\pm}$  are positive/negative for positive/negative arguments. A positive  $\Delta \phi$  will then entail k and v negative, and the frequencies  $\omega_1 < \omega_2 = \ldots = \omega_{n-1} < \omega_n$ , i.e., the wavefront travels from the fastest  $\omega_n$  to the slowest  $\omega_1$ . The common frequency  $\omega$  is intermediate between  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_n$  and equals  $\omega_2$  if  $q^-(-\Delta \phi) + q^+(\Delta \phi) = 0$ . Eqs. 21. were presented in (70) but the stability of their solutions was not addressed, which we do in Appendix R by solving analytically the corresponding tridiagonal matrix problem.

#### 5.4. Waves and twisted states in rings of coupled oscillators

To illustrate the role of boundary conditions, we now consider waves in a ring of coupled oscillators. Ref. (162) considers the following form of Eq. 18. for the phases  $\phi(x) = \theta(x) - \omega_0 t$  in the frame of reference rotating with the natural frequency  $\omega_0$  of the oscillators:

$$\dot{\phi} = \int_{-\pi}^{+\pi} G(x-y) \sin\left[\phi(y,t) - \phi(x,t)\right] \, dy \,. \tag{22}$$

The coupling G(s) are non-negative, symmetric about s = 0 and decrease as s increases up to its maximum value on the ring. It is immediate to check that Eq. 22. is a gradient system with the potential  $V = -\frac{1}{2} \int \int G(|x-y|) \cos(\phi(y) - \phi(x))$ , so that the asymptotic behavior cannot feature limit cycles or more complicated behaviors (151). Waves correspond to fixed points with a constant phase difference  $\phi(x,t) = qx$ , where q must be an integer to match periodic boundary conditions on the ring. Those solutions do exist for any q, as it follows from G and the sine functions being even and odd, respectively. Wave solutions (in the original  $\theta$  variables) are also called q-twisted state, as q counts the number of full twists of the phase  $\phi$  around the ring. Nontrivial aspects appear when the stability of the twisted states is considered as a function of the coupling range. The function G(x) is cut to zero beyond a distance  $|x| > r\pi$ , i.e., each oscillator interacts with fixed strength  $1/2\pi r$ with the closest fraction r of the ring and not with the rest. The important result proved in (162) is that the stability of twisted states requires a short range r and reduces as the number of twists increases, viz. the q-twisted state is stable if  $|q|r < \mu \simeq 0.6626$ . For the critical first mode q = 1, the threshold is  $r_c(q = 1) \simeq 0.6809$ . For  $r > r_c(1)$  numerical evidence suggests that the only possible attractor is the fully synchronized state where all phases are locked as in Kuramoto's fully-coupled case (82). Breaking the gradient nature of the system can induce more complicated dynamics. Namely, chimera states, a mixture of synchronized and drifting spatial regions, are observed when the coupling is modified into  $\sin(\theta_j - \theta_i + \alpha)$  and oscillators are non-locally coupled (83, 1).

#### 6. Toward bridging experiments and theory

#### 6.1. Mitotic waves

The existence of a bistable switch at the core of mitotic entry (108, 127, 140) suggests that mitotic waves in Fig. 1 might be driven by trigger waves of activity of the cell cycle master regulator, the Cyclin-dependent kinase 1 (Cdk1). This idea was first proposed to explain mitotic waves observed in the slime mold *Physarum Polycephalum* (119). Mitotic waves were later observed experimentally using *Xenopus* extracts enclosed in long tubes. Results were interpreted as trigger waves of Cdk1 activity based on desynchronization observed when the tube was cut in half (see Section 6.2), and on pharmacological perturbations of Cdk1 inhibitors (18). A limitation of these early experiments was the lack of direct measurements of Cdk1 activity. This limitation was recently overcome with the use of a FRET biosensor (50), which probes the activity of Cdk1 in embryos (26).

Direct observations in *Drosophila* embryos demonstrated that the spatial propagation of Cdk1 activity lacks the hallmark of trigger waves discussed in Section 3.1, i.e., a traveling wavefront as in Fig. 3D. Instead, spatially smooth profiles of Cdk1 activity formed during early-mid interphase were experimentally seen (Fig. 1 in (160) and Fig. 8) to be swept up over time, much like in Fig. 4B. The resulting wave-like profiles of mitotic entry inspired the discovery of sweep waves discussed in Section 3.2. A series of theoretical predictions was successfully tested in (160). In particular, the speed of Cdk1 and mitotic waves was measured when the synthesis of cyclins was altered. Cyclins (108, 111), an obligate partner for Cdk1 to be active, accumulate during the cell cycle and drive up Cdk1 activity analogously to the parameter  $\beta$  in Section 3.2. While the speed of trigger waves should have a weak dependency on the rate of accumulation of cyclins (see Eq. 50 in Appendix F), sweep waves should significantly depend on  $\beta$ , as predicted by Eq. 7. Experimental data were found to be consistent with the latter and not the former. Moreover, the hallmark of a phase wave, the inverse dependence of speed on the local gradient (see section 3.2), was directly verified (see Fig. 7 in (160) and Fig. 4E). Gradients of Cdk1 activity similar to those predicted by sweep waves, have been proposed to organize also cortical actomyosin in early starfish embryos (11, 161).

Elucidating the dynamics of Cdk1 activity also allowed to clarify the nature of waves of mitotic exit and division, as shown in Fig. 1. Waves of mitotic exit were observed experimentally to follow waves of Cdk1 activity with a fixed delay (26). This is theoretically understood as witnessing the time-autonomous and space-uncoupled growth of Cdk1 activity during mitosis, which preserves delays determined by Cdk1 waves (see Appendix F, phase III). The relationship between entry and exit waves was preserved (26) even when embryos were mechanically ligated (see Section 6.2), thus supporting that mitotic exit waves are phase waves that simply follow the temporal delays imposed by Cdk1 sweep waves.

Transiently bistable systems are predicted to feature trigger or sweep waves depending on the speed at which the system is driven (the  $\beta$  parameter in Section 3.2). In *Drosophila* embryos, sweep waves are observed in cycles of the wild type but trigger waves can be induced in the mutant  $twe^{3A}wee1^{9A}$  (160). In other systems, namely *Xenopus* extracts, a transition from sweep to trigger waves might be observed in successive cycles, which is consistent with recent experimental observations (118, 3). Indeed, the cell cycle duration in *Xenopus* extracts substantially lengthens over time. Remarkably, mitotic waves are fast in the first rapid cycles, and their speed shows a clear dependency on cell cycle duration. Following these early cycles, the speed of mitotic waves becomes essentially independent of the period of the cell cycle. This observation suggests that the extract might have transitioned from sweep to trigger waves (118), as predicted by the theory in Section 3.2. In the future, the use of biosensors in the extract system will be crucial to test this hypothesis.

#### 6.2. Barrier experiments are not a smoking gun for phase vs. trigger waves

Physical barriers have been proposed as a mechanism to discriminate between phase and trigger waves. As discussed in Section 3.3, inserting a physical barrier is indeed discriminatory *but only if properly timed*, that is after the establishment of the gradients. While this is simple to do in controlled situations, mechanisms and timings of gradients in natural biological system are often hard to control. Thus, barrier experiments ought to be interpreted



**Timed barrier experiments in early** *Drosophila* **embryos.** Upper panels: A physical barrier desynchronizes the two halves of the embryo when inserted in early to mid-interphase (left), while insertion in late interphase is unable to block mitotic waves (right). This phenomenology is explained in Section 3.2 and summarized in the lower panels. During phase I, Cdk1 gradients are formed with growing correlation length (the left panel shows the two-point correlation function from experimental data). Introducing a barrier at this stage disrupts gradients' formation and results in the asynchrony of the upper panel. During the later phase II, Cdk1 profiles are swept up across the embryo (the right panel shows Cdk1 activity experimental data). Since the sweeping is essentially independent of diffusion, no disruption is expected, consistently with the upper panel.

carefully and cannot be used blindly as the litmus test for trigger vs. phase waves.

A clear example in case is *Drosophila*. Embryos are mechanically ligated using razor blades attached to a micromanipulator (137, 32). If the embryo is ligated naïvely, i.e., without precautions on the timing, the two halves of the embryo eventually desynchronize, suggesting a trigger wave. However, a modified macromanipulator that allows for precisely timed ligations reveals the actual nature of the process (26). A physical barrier desynchronizes the two halves of the embryo (Fig. 8) when inserted in early to mid-interphase, i.e., when Cdk1 gradients are being formed (phase I in Section 3.2). Conversely, insertion in late interphase (phase II in Section 3.2) is unable to block mitotic waves. These timed experiments show that the barrier blocks the formation of the gradients, which does require physical coupling, and not the Cdk1 waves, which are phase waves. To conclude, barrier experiments are a valuable method to pinpoint physical couplings and discriminate the nature of waves, but identifying the steps actually involved requires well-controlled timing.

#### 6.3. Somitogenesis

Experiments with cells isolated from the PSM tissue showed that they are oscillatory (100). Oscillations are preserved in isolated tissue pieces, as shown in Fig. 2, which exhibit oscillatory activity with the correct period of oscillations (97, 85). While isolated cells from the chick PSM likely have less regular oscillations (100), recent data in zebrafish argue that much of the tissue dynamics might be recapitulated by single cells in isolation (134). Analysis of the oscillations across the PSM shows both frequency and phase gradients (53, 120, 156, 149, 143, 142). While the mechanisms that establish these gradients remain to be elucidated, it is likely that they are linked to signaling gradients (Fgf, Wnt and Retinoic Acid) that span across the entire tissue along the Anterior-Posterior direction (66).

The collection of the above observations has led to the widespread sense that waves observed in Fig. 2C are related to coupled oscillators dynamics as discussed in Section 5. Since the clock and wavefront model in (21), theoretical ideas have indeed revolved around the rhythmic nature of somitogenesis. Approaches in the literature (116, 71, 90, 96, 144, 113) consider models of individual oscillators coupled by signaling communication between neighboring oscillators. For instance, mutual adjustment of frequencies can result from processes like activation of Notch receptors in a presomitic mesoderm cell by Delta from neighboring cells, which then affects the dynamics of Notch pathway components in the target cell. In particular, references (71, 136) discuss the effects exerted by the type of bifurcation that leads to oscillatory behavior upon features of metazoan segmentation, with a direct and concrete comparison presented for Hopf vs SNIC (saddle node on invariant cycle) (151) bifurcations. Important support to the coupled oscillators paradigm has emerged by investigating the ability of pre-somitic cells to self-organize into structures able to sustain waves (156). In a remarkable set of experiments, it was shown that cells isolated from the mouse PSM, dissociated and reassociated were able to self-organize into structures whose spatiotemporal signaling dynamics closely resembles that observed in vivo (156). Mixing cells of different phases and/or periods gave rise again to structures able to generate waves resembling those observed in vitro. Interestingly, the system not only reconstituted the oscillatory pattern but also the Fgf/Wnt signaling gradients. Thus, current evidence is that the PSM is a tissue able to fully self-organize into dynamic entities that can support traveling waves. Precise temporal measurements also revealed that the oscillatory activities of the Notch and Wnt display phase shifts that are key for patterning, as demonstrated by microfluidic entrainment experiments (148).

While cells isolated from the PSM tissue are oscillatory (100), a transition to nonoscillatory dynamics was observed in *in vitro* experiments altering the property of the substrates on which cells were plated or the mechanotransduction pathway Yap (67). This suggests that oscillators underlying somitogenesis might be relatively close to a bifurcation qualitatively similar to that in Figs. 5A and C. The actin cytoskeleton and Yap signaling might be two knobs that shift the nullclines and drive a bifurcation from excitable to oscillatory and vice versa. While quantitative aspects and functional implications remain largely open, the ability to induce human embryonic stem cells to differentiate into PSM cells has started to unveil how those processes might be controlled in human embryos (102, 101, 28, 20).

#### 6.4. Erk waves

The Erk signaling pathway sustains traveling waves in multiple contexts. Erk is downstream of the MAPK/Ras signaling pathway and can be activated by multiple growth factor ligands (86, 124). In wound healing assays, both in epithelial *in vitro* culture and in the epidermis of living mouse, Erk waves travel in the direction opposite of cell movement, playing a key role in driving collective cell migration (4, 62). Similar waves controlling cell migration are observed in the development of the mouse cochlear duct and might involve a different ligand family, i.e., Fgf instead of Egf (69). EGFR-Erk waves have also been shown to control epithelial invagination in Drosophila tracheal placodes (123) and the response of cells to apoptosis (47, 157). Finally, Erk waves are observed in the regulation of zebrafish scale regeneration, where they control cell and tissue growth (24). Specifically, repeated waves emerge from a common source and travel across the entire tissue. Current evidence is that those waves are associated to an excitable dynamics of the type discussed in Section 4. In particular, modeling in (24, 59) has the system behave like a FHN model discussed in Section 4.1. The source region is driven by the localized production of ligands in the oscillatory regime of the FHN dynamics (see Fig. 5C). Conversely, the rest of the tissue is in an excitable state (see Fig. 5A). As a consequence, as the source periodically passes the threshold of excitability of the neighboring tissue, a wave is originated that is able to travel across the entire tissue. The function of these waves is to instruct cell growth and likely to favor tissue growth by preventing the accumulation of mechanical stress in the tissue (24). While the model for Erk waves in scales is purely chemical, mechanical inputs have been implicated in the context of collective cell migration. Erk waves arise then from a mechanochemical coupling, where cell deformation causes activation of Erk via EGFR which feeds back upon cell deformation (4, 61, 13). A future challenge is to combine quantitative imaging experiments and theory to provide further insight on the mechanisms of Erk waves and the integration of biochemical and mechanical signals in different biological settings.

#### 7. Future perspectives

Open challenges for each one of the developmental examples selected here have been presented in each of the Sections 6. While previous examples stressed the importance of the presence of waves, many developmental instances require to suppress waves to keep signals localized. A clear example is the formation of morphogen gradients which drive cell fate specification in a dose-dependent manner (14, 169). While simple diffusion and ligand/receptor interactions are in principle sufficient to establish gradients, additional feedback mechanisms are found ubiquitously in signaling pathways (56, 110, 150). A mechanism that suppresses wave spreading was recently shown in Nodal signaling in zebrafish embryos (93). Nodal establishes a gradient that can be well-recapitulated by simple diffusion and ligand/receptor interactions. However, removal of a co-receptor caused signaling to spread as a wave rather than remaining localized as a gradient (93). Thus, in this system a mechanism suppresses wave spreading to help maintaining the signal localized. The early Drosophila embryo provides another example where localized signals and waves coexist. The latter have been discussed in Section 6.1 for blastoderm embryos. Conversely, in the early cycles, when nuclei occupy a small region of the embryo, oscillations of the cell cycle are observed only in the region of cytoplasm surrounding the nuclei (27). Control by mitotic phosphatases that counteract Cdk1 activity (27, 72, 131, 107, 106, 60, 170) is crucial to keep the activity localized and drive proper cytoplasmic flows that uniformly position nuclei across the em-

bryo (27). Thus, embryonic systems have evolved mechanisms to both facilitate and tame the spreading of signaling waves. Understanding how systems utilize and switch between these modes of regulation will also reveal new principles of control of embryogenesis.

In conclusion, we described several examples from developmental biology where signaling waves play a major role, and we provided an excerpt of the theory of waves in various settings relevant for development. Our goal is to inspire future research connecting experiments with theory. Specifically, our analysis shows that theoretical arguments allow one to make quantitative predictions on traveling waves, e.g., their speed and the geometry of traveling wavefronts. Developing the experimental tools needed to measure these quantities offers unique opportunities to elucidate the underlying molecular mechanisms. This is exemplified by the sweep waves in the control of mitosis in the early Drosophila embryo (160). Their recognition could be made because the use of a new biosensor for Cdk1 activity (26) revealed that Cdk1 waves are not characterized by a traveling wavefront but rather by sweeping Cdk1 gradients (160). We expect that the combination of biosensors to monitor signaling dynamics (132, 54), fluorescence methods to follow gene expression products (mRNA and proteins) (55, 30) and biophysical measurements to probe diffusion (171, 109) and directed motion of molecules (27, 105, 141) will play similar roles and raise novel challenges. The combination of those methods with recent optogenetic techniques to manipulate protein localization and signaling will provide unique opportunities to further strengthen the ongoing emergence of theory in development (36, 81, 133).

#### A. Linear stability of bistable wavefront profiles

The goal of this Appendix is to demonstrate that monotonic profiles of bistable wavefronts are stable (and non-monotonic ones are unstable). We consider the original equation 1. (in rescaled units to have  $D = F_0 = 1$ ) and the evolution of perturbations  $\eta(\xi, t)$  to a wavefront  $\varphi(\xi)$ , i.e.,  $\phi(x,t) = \varphi(\xi) + \eta(\xi,t)$ , where  $\xi \equiv x - ct$  and  $\varphi(\xi)$  solves Eq. 2.. The resulting equation for  $\eta$  reads:

$$\frac{\partial \eta\left(\xi,t\right)}{\partial t} = \partial_{\xi}^{2} \eta + c \,\partial_{\xi} \eta + f'(\varphi(\xi)) \,\eta \,, \qquad 23.$$

where we have considered  $\eta$  small so that  $f(\varphi + \eta) \simeq f(\varphi) + \eta f'(\varphi)$ . The invariance to time translations of the original equation for  $\phi(x,t)$  implies that any solution  $\varphi(\xi)$  can be translated and will still solve Eq. 2.. From the expansion of the translated solution  $\varphi(\xi + \epsilon) \simeq \varphi(\xi) + \epsilon \varphi'(\xi)$ , it follows that  $\eta(\xi) = \varphi'(\xi)$  is a stationary solution of Eq. 23.. This is verified directly noting that the right-hand side of Eq. 23. coincides then with the derivative of Eq. 2., which is solved by  $\varphi(\xi)$ .

The linearity of the equation in  $\eta$  allows to decompose the solution as a superposition of eigenmodes of the form  $e^{-Et}\chi(\xi)$ . Stability amounts then to the energy of eigenmodes, with negative energies E < 0 corresponding to unstable modes. The issue is best addressed by recasting the equation for  $\chi(\xi)$  into a Schrödinger form. To eliminate the first-derivative term, we write  $\chi(\xi) = e^{-c\xi/2}\psi(\xi)$  and obtain for  $\psi$ :

$$E\psi = -\frac{d^2\psi}{d\xi^2} + \left[\frac{c^2}{4} - f'(\varphi\left(\xi\right))\right]\psi.$$
24.

The original question of stability is thus reduced to the question of whether or not the potential  $\frac{c^2}{4} - f'(\varphi(\xi))$  admit bound states (E < 0). A generic potential not being integrable, the full spectrum is not computable, yet we can still conclude on the existence of bound states by using the translation invariance of the original Eq. 2. that was mentioned above. The fact that  $\eta(\xi) = \varphi'(\xi)$  is a zero mode, i.e., solves Eq. 24. with E = 0, is used in combination with the result, well-known from quantum mechanics and Sturm-Liouville theory (84, 22), that ground states have no nodes (zeros) and excited states have an increasing number thereof. It follows that if  $\varphi'$  has no zeros, i.e.,  $\varphi$  is monotonic, then  $\varphi'$  is the ground state and therefore there is no eigenstate with energy E < 0. Vice versa, if  $\varphi'$  has one or multiple zeros, then it is an excited state. Since E = 0 is not the lowest energy state, there is a lower ground state (at least) with negative energy, and therefore an unstable mode.

#### B. Basins of attraction and threshold property in bistable systems

While results in Appendix A show that wavefront solutions exist and are linearly stable, it is also important to assess their global basin of attraction. Results in (41, 39) ensure that broad classes of initial conditions do converge to a wavefront profile that solves Eq. 2.. For concreteness, we shall state results for the case where the two stable points are at  $\varphi = 0$  and  $\varphi = 1$ . Generalizations are obvious.

A first convergence result states that smooth initial conditions "close" to unity at  $-\infty$ , "close" to zero at  $\infty$  and taking values in (0, 1), will exponentially converge to the above wavefront (with a shift determined by the initial condition). "Close" means that the limits  $\varphi_{\mp}$  at  $\mp \infty$  should be such that  $f(\varphi_{-}) > 0$  and  $f(\varphi_{+}) < 0$ , i.e.,  $\varphi_{-} > a$  and  $\varphi_{+} < a$ , abeing the point where f changes sign (see Fig. 3A). If the initial condition is reversed and tends to  $\varphi_{\mp}$  at  $\pm \infty$ , then the solution converges to a wavefront traveling from right to left. An additional convergence result states that, if the initial condition asymptotically vanishes on both sides but contains a "bump" of sufficient height and width, then two diverging wavefronts will ensue, with the profile and the speed determined above. That reflects that the state  $\varphi(x) = 0$  is not globally stable, even with respect to perturbations of bounded support, in spite of its being locally stable, i.e., decaying if the perturbation is weak. The latter property is demonstrated using the maximum principle (6) hereafter.

The maximum principle states (6) that two solutions  $\varphi_1$  and  $\varphi_2$  that are initially reciprocally bounded  $\varphi_1(x,0) \leq \varphi_2(x,0)$  will preserve their order throughout their evolution under Eq. 1.. Indeed, the equation for their difference  $\delta \varphi = \varphi_2 - \varphi_1$  is

$$\frac{\partial (\delta\varphi)}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial^2 (\delta\varphi)}{\partial x^2} = f(\varphi_2) - f(\varphi_1) = \delta\varphi \times f'(\varphi_1 + \theta(\delta\varphi)) \ge \delta\varphi \times m.$$
 25.

Here,  $0 < \theta < 1$ , we have used the theorem of the mean for the second step, and the minimum of the derivative  $f'(\varphi)$  is denoted m. The conservation of the order follows then from the maximum principle for linear parabolic inequalities (128). Its non-rigorous version is that the minimum of  $\delta\varphi$ , which is initially non-negative, cannot become negative because the time-derivative at the minimum is  $\geq m \times \delta\varphi + \frac{\partial^2(\delta\varphi)}{\partial x^2}$ . Since the first term may be negative but vanishes with  $\delta\varphi$ , and the second term is non-negative because of the minimum condition, the time derivative is non-negative and crossing of the line  $\delta\varphi = 0$  is therefore not allowed.

The result on local stability of the state  $\varphi \equiv 0$  that we announced above can now be proved by comparing an initial condition  $\varphi_1(x,0) \leq \gamma < a$  to the evolution of a uniform initial condition  $\varphi_2 = \gamma$ . The latter will remain uniform and decay to zero as  $\frac{d\varphi_2}{dt} = f(\varphi_2) < 0$ , which implies that  $\varphi_1(x,t)$  will also asymptotically vanish.

Initial conditions that decay to zero are not constrained to stay below a. Theorems 3.2 in (6) and (41), respectively, give conditions ensuring the decay or the spreading of waves that will eventually bring the system to the fixed point  $\varphi = 1$ . The latter situations explicitly show that the state  $\varphi \equiv 0$  is not globally stable. The combination of those results and the maximum principle illustrate the threshold property of bistable reaction-diffusion systems: bounded-support perturbations of  $\varphi = 0$  that are strong enough on a sufficiently wide spatial interval grow to one, while all perturbations below a threshold die out.

#### C. Dynamical-systems arguments for wave propagation in static bistable systems

In alternative to the mechanical analogy discussed in Section 3.1.1, the propagation of waves for a bistable reaction-diffusion system can be demonstrated by dynamical-systems arguments based on heteroclinic orbits (151). The possibility of spreading a wave corresponds indeed to the existence of an (heteroclinic) orbit connecting the metastable fixed point at  $\varphi = 0$  and the stable fixed point at  $\varphi = 1$ , see Fig. 9. The second-order Eq. 2. is reformulated as a first-order system :

$$\frac{d\varphi}{d\xi} = w; \qquad \frac{dw}{d\xi} = -cw - f(\varphi) . \qquad 26.$$

Its local stability analysis (151) shows then that both  $\varphi = 0$  and  $\varphi = 1$  are saddle-points, with one positive and one negative eigenvalue:

$$\lambda_{\pm} = \frac{-c \pm \sqrt{c^2 + 4|f'|}}{2}, \qquad 27$$

www.annualreviews.org • Waves in embryonic development 25



Wave speed of bistable trigger waves and heteroclinic orbits. The curves show typical graphs of solutions to Eqs. 26. flowing backward in "time" from  $\varphi = 0$ . The value  $c^*$  indicates the speed of the bistable trigger wave. For  $c < c^*$ , solutions "undershoot" and curve back before reaching the target ( $\varphi = 1, w = 0$ ). At c = 0, the trajectory describes a homoclinic trajectory that asymptotically goes back to the origin (energy is conserved for c = 0). Vice versa, for  $c > c^*$ , solutions overshoot the target. The value  $c^*$  is the special value for which the solution connects the two stable points  $\varphi = 0$  and  $\varphi = 1$  (heteroclinic orbit). The wavefront profile is obtained from the "time"-course of the heteroclinic orbit.

where we have recast the expression in a form which stresses that the derivative of f at  $\varphi = 0$  and  $\varphi = 1$  is negative. The corresponding eigenvectors have components  $(e_{\varphi}, e_w)$  with ratio  $e_w/e_{\varphi} = \lambda$ . The heteroclinic orbit corresponding to the wavefront in Fig. 3D in the main text should emerge from  $\varphi = 1$  along its unstable direction  $e_w/e_{\varphi} = \lambda_+(\varphi = 1)$ , and land at  $\varphi = 0$  along its stable eigenvector  $e_w/e_{\varphi} = \lambda_-(\varphi = 0)$ . Equivalently, we can look at trajectories flowing backward in "time" from  $\varphi = 0$  to  $\varphi = 1$ , as shown in Fig. 9. The existence of a heteroclinic orbit is generally demonstrated by showing that the solution for c = 0 undershoots, and that solutions for large c overshoot the target point ( $\varphi = 1, w = 0$ ). By using the smooth dependence and monotonicity of solutions on c, it is then concluded that there is an intermediate value of c that will hit  $\varphi = 1$ .

The first statement is a simple consequence of the identity 3. between the velocity of the wave and the potential V defined by the equality  $f = -\partial V/\partial \varphi$ . It follows from 3. that if  $V(\varphi = 0) - V(\varphi = 1) \neq 0$ , then c cannot vanish. Furthermore, it is clear from the second equation in 26. that (going backward in time) w is initially pushed down by the negative part of the force f but then its positive component starts pushing w up. For  $V(\varphi = 0) - V(\varphi = 1) > 0$ , the latter is stronger than the former and the trajectory will then cross the w = 0 axis before reaching the target point  $\varphi = 1$  (see Fig. 9).

The second statement follows by showing that the trajectory emerging (backward in time) from the origin stays below a line  $w = -b\varphi$  for large enough c. The choice of the positive constant b is discussed hereafter. Indeed: (i) the slope at the origin  $|\lambda_{-}| > c$ , which can be made > b by choosing c > b. The trajectory starts then below the line  $w = -b\varphi$ ;

(ii) the trajectory can be made to remain below the line, because for  $w + b\varphi = 0$ :

$$\frac{d(w+b\varphi)}{d\xi} = -cw - f + bw \ge \varphi \left[bc - b^2 - K\right], \qquad 28.$$

where  $\max\left(\frac{f(\varphi)}{\varphi}\right) \leq K$  is finite for bounded smooth potentials. The bound is tightest for b = c/2, which respects the condition in (i) and yields that the derivative is positive (negative backward in time) for  $c > 2\sqrt{K}$ . It follows that the trajectory (moving backward in time) cannot cross the line  $w = -b\varphi$  and therefore remains below the target point  $(\varphi = 1, w = 0)$ .

Finally, monotonicity in c is proved by analyzing the dependence on c for  $w(\varphi)$ . Let us consider the equation for the difference  $\delta w(\varphi) = w_2 - w_1$  of the functions  $w_1$  and  $w_2$  for two velocities  $c_1$  and  $c_2$ :

$$\frac{d\left(\delta w\right)}{d\varphi} - \frac{f\left(\varphi\right)}{w_1w_2}\left(\delta w\right) = -\left(c_2 - c_1\right)\,,\tag{29}$$

which is reduced to

$$\frac{d\chi\left(\varphi\right)}{d\varphi} = -\left(c_2 - c_1\right)e^{-\int_a^{\varphi}\frac{f\left(u\right)}{w_1w_2}\,du}; \qquad \chi \equiv \delta w \, e^{-\int_a^{\varphi}\frac{f\left(u\right)}{w_1w_2}\,du}, \qquad 30.$$

by introducing the proper integrating factor. Here, a is the position of the (unstable) middle fixed point, so that  $f \leq 0$  for  $0 \leq \varphi \leq a$ . It follows from Eq. 30. that its right-hand side is negative for  $c_2 > c_1$ , that is  $\chi$  is monotonically decreasing in  $\varphi$ . Furthermore,  $\chi$  vanishes at the origin, as verified noting that: (i) the argument  $\int_{\varphi}^{a} \frac{f(u)}{w_1(u)w_2(u)} du$  of the exponential is negative; (ii) as  $\varphi \to 0$ , the argument of the exponential diverges (f vanishes linearly but both  $w_1$  and  $w_2$  vanish linearly as well). We conclude that  $\chi(\varphi) \leq 0$  and therefore  $w_2 \leq w_1$ .

#### D. Two solvable cases of bistable trigger waves

We consider Eq. 2.

$$\frac{d^{2}\varphi}{d\xi^{2}} = -c\frac{d\varphi}{d\xi} - f\left(\varphi\right), \qquad 31.$$

for piecewise linear and cubic forces:

$$f(\varphi) = (\varphi_0 - \varphi) + (\varphi_1 - \varphi_0) H (\varphi - a) ; \qquad f(\varphi) = -(\varphi - \varphi_0) (\varphi - a) (\varphi - \varphi_1) , \quad 32.$$

with  $\varphi_0 < a < \varphi_1$ . Here, H denotes the Heaviside step function.

#### D.1. Piecewise linear

Equation 31.

$$\varphi'' + c\varphi' + \varphi_0 - \varphi = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad \varphi < a \,; \qquad \varphi'' + c\varphi' + \varphi_1 - \varphi = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad \varphi > a \,, \quad 33.$$

has solutions

$$\varphi = \varphi_0 + Ae^{\lambda_+ \xi} \quad \text{for } \xi < \xi^*; \quad \varphi = \varphi_1 + Be^{\lambda_- \xi} \quad \text{for } \xi > \xi^*; \quad \lambda_{\pm} = \frac{-c \pm \sqrt{c^2 + 4}}{2}, \quad 34.$$

www.annualreviews.org • Waves in embryonic development 27

where  $\xi^*$  is the (yet unknown) point where the two branches reach the common discontinuity level a. By imposing this condition, as well as continuity of first derivatives, we have

$$\varphi_0 + Ae^{\lambda_+ \xi^*} = a; \quad \varphi_1 + Be^{\lambda_- \xi^*} = a; \quad \lambda_+ (a - \varphi_0) = \lambda_- (a - \varphi_1).$$
 35.

Elementary algebra on the last equation yields the final result

$$c = \frac{\varphi_1 + \varphi_0 - 2a}{\sqrt{a(\varphi_0 + \varphi_1) - \varphi_0\varphi_1 - a^2}}.$$
 36.

#### D.2. Cubic force

Equation 31. for the cubic force in 32. admits the solution

$$\varphi\left(\xi\right) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\varphi_1 + \varphi_0 - (\varphi_1 - \varphi_0) \tanh\left(\frac{\xi}{\ell}\right)\right], \qquad 37.$$

where  $\ell$  controls the width of the transition region between the asymptotic values  $\varphi_1$  at  $\xi \to -\infty$  and  $\varphi_0$  at  $\xi \to \infty$ . Indeed, when 37. is inserted into 31., the special cubic structure makes that the nonlinear force generates terms that have the same exact structure as the linear ones. Eq. 31. reduces then to:

$$\frac{\sinh\left(\frac{\xi}{\ell}\right)}{\cosh^3\left(\frac{\xi}{\ell}\right)} \left[ -\frac{1}{\ell^2} + \frac{(\varphi_1 - \varphi_0)^2}{8} \right] + \frac{1}{\cosh^2\left(\frac{\xi}{\ell}\right)} \left[ \frac{c}{2\ell} - \frac{(\varphi_1 - \varphi_0)\left(\varphi_1 + \varphi_0 - 2a\right)}{8} \right] = 0. \quad 38.$$

It follows that

$$\ell = \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{\varphi_1 - \varphi_0}; \qquad c = \frac{\varphi_1 + \varphi_0 - 2a}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 39.

#### E. Effects of noise on the velocity of bistable trigger waves

The aim of this Appendix is to give a short adaptation to the case of bistable fronts of the arguments developed in (15, 16) for the (more difficult) case of the Fisher-Kolmogorov equation, where a stable state invades an unstable one (112). The intuitive idea put forward in (15, 16) is that noise will be mostly important in the region where the field  $\phi$  is small, and one can grasp its effects by cutting off the reaction term  $f(\phi)$  when the field  $\phi$  reaches small values  $\simeq \epsilon$ . The presence of a cutoff physically accounts for discretization effects due to few individuals left in the population for the Fisher-Kolmogorov case or due to few reacting molecules in chemical reactions. In both cases, noise results, which induces stochastic effects, like for instance genetic drift, that can be substantial (78, 52). The simple physical picture of a cutoff on f allows to draw important conclusions on the effects of noise, as shown hereafter.

The dynamical-systems analysis of Appendix C shows that the asymptotic behavior at infinity of the front  $\varphi$  (in the absence of cut-off) is

$$\varphi(\xi) \simeq A e^{\lambda - \xi} + 0 \times e^{\lambda + \xi}, \qquad 40.$$

where the positive eigenvector must vanish in the absence of a cutoff because it would grow at infinity, A > 0 and it is understood that Eq. 27. for  $\lambda_{\pm}$  is calculated at the point  $\varphi = 0$ . The corresponding velocity is denoted  $c_0$ . The presence of a cutoff will slightly modify the

velocity into  $c_n$  and allow for the coefficient of the growing exponential not to vanish as the solution is cut off at finite distances. The resulting behavior will then be

$$\varphi_n\left(\xi\right) \simeq A e^{\lambda_-\xi} + B\left(c_n - c_0\right) e^{\lambda_+\xi},\tag{41}$$

where the perturbative nature of the second term is brought by the small factor  $(c_0 - c_n)$ . By imposing that both terms are of the order of the threshold  $\epsilon$  at the cutoff distance  $\xi_c$ :

$$Ae^{\lambda_{-}\xi_{c}} \simeq B(c_{n}-c_{0})e^{\lambda_{+}\xi_{c}} \simeq \epsilon,$$

$$42.$$

we conclude that  $\xi_c \simeq -\log(\epsilon/A)/|\lambda_-|$  and the correction to the velocity

$$c_n \sim c_0 + \frac{\epsilon^{1+\frac{\lambda_+}{|\lambda_-|}}}{BA^{\frac{\lambda_+}{|\lambda_-|}}}.$$

$$43.$$

The important aspect to notice is that the amplitude of the correction features a power of  $\epsilon$  larger than unity. That implies that corrections will be relatively small as compared to the substantial ones  $\propto 1/\log^2(\epsilon)$  of the Fisher-Kolmogorov case (15, 16). Similar arguments can be developed to investigate the diffusion of the traveling front's position (15, 16).

#### F. Time-dependent bistable systems

The goal of this Appendix is to provide more information on the dynamics of transiently bistable systems as in Fig. 4, and the associated sweep waves. For full details, we refer to Ref. (160). We consider Eq. 4.:

$$\frac{\partial \phi\left(\boldsymbol{x},t\right)}{\partial t} = D\Delta \phi\left(\boldsymbol{x},t\right) + f\left(\phi,t\right) + \sqrt{2\nu}\,\eta\left(\boldsymbol{x},t\right)\,. \tag{44}$$

Here,  $\nu$  controls the amplitude of the noise and  $\eta$  is  $\delta$ -correlated in space and time  $\langle \eta(x,t)\eta(x',t')\rangle = \delta(x-x')\delta(t-t')$ . The reaction term f depends on time as sketched in Fig. 4A, i.e., it is transiently bistable. For the sake of concreteness, we consider the specific case

$$f(\phi,t) = -F_0\phi\left(\phi - \frac{1}{2}\right)(\phi - 1) + \beta t \equiv -F_0(\phi - \phi_0(t))(\phi - a(t))(\phi - \phi_1(t)), \quad 45.$$

with  $\phi_0(t) \leq a(t) < \phi_1(t)$ , as shown in Fig. 4. The advantage of this form is that its static version  $\beta = 0$  has an analytical solution (see Appendix D) and the  $\beta t$  has a direct connection to the growth of cyclins during the cell cycle in *Drosophila* mitotic waves, as explained in the main text. Initially, the unstable point a(0) = 1/2 so that the potential defined by  $-\partial V/\partial \phi = f$  has the same depth at the two stable zeros  $\phi_0(0) = 0$  and  $\phi_1(0) = 1$ . As time progresses, the time-dependent constant  $\beta t$  progressively raises the force field, i.e., tilts the potential by a term  $-\beta t \phi$ , which shifts the zeros of f and favors the stability of  $\phi_1(t)$  $vs. \phi_0(t)$ . Bistability is eventually lost for  $\beta t^* = F^* = F_0\sqrt{3}/36$  when  $\phi_0(t^*)$  and  $a(t^*)$ coincide at the value  $\phi^* = 0.5 - \sqrt{3}/6$  where the cubic in f has its minimum, and then they turn complex conjugate by a saddle-node bifurcation. The derivative of f at  $\phi_0(t)$ reads  $-f'(\phi_0(t)) \equiv \frac{1}{\tau} = F_0(a - \phi_0)(\phi_1 - \phi_0)$ . Close to the saddle-node bifurcation, f is well approximated by its quadratic expansion around its minimum, which yields

$$(a(t) - \phi_0(t)) \propto \sqrt{\frac{F^* - \beta t}{F_0}}; \qquad \tau \simeq [F_0 (F^* - \beta t)]^{-1/2}.$$
 46.

www.annualreviews.org • Waves in embryonic development 29

It is convenient to distinguish three dynamic phases that we will discuss sequentially hereafter: the early adiabatic phase I, the middle phase II close to the critical bifurcation, and the late phase III when the system is monostable (see Fig. 4 in the main text).

Phase I: quasi-adiabatic dynamics and trigger waves at slow drives. We consider an initial condition starting at low values of  $\phi$  and its dynamics at early times, smaller than the saddle-node bifurcation time  $t^*$ . The force f crosses the axis at  $\phi_0(t)$  with a slope  $-1/\tau$ . As long as  $\tau \ll \frac{\phi_0(t)}{d\phi_0/dt}$ , i.e., relaxation is rapid as compared to the typical time of variation of  $\phi_0(t)$ , the system will evolve quasi-adiabatically and follow the evolution of  $\phi_0(t)$ . Specifically, at each time t its state will approximately correspond to the stationary state of the linearized equation

$$\frac{\partial \phi\left(\boldsymbol{x},t\right)}{\partial t} = D\Delta \phi\left(\boldsymbol{x},t\right) - \frac{\phi - \phi_{0}(t)}{\tau} + \sqrt{2\nu}\,\eta\left(\boldsymbol{x},t\right)\,.$$

$$47.$$

Gaussianity of the noise and linearity of Eq. 47. imply that  $\phi$  is Gaussian, i.e., its single-time statistics is fully characterized by its average, which is  $\phi_0(t)$ , and its covariance  $C_t(x, x') = \langle (\phi(x, t) - \phi_0(t)) (\phi(x', t) - \phi_0(t)) \rangle$ , which is (see SI in (160) for details):

$$C_t(x, x') = C(0) e^{-\frac{|x-x'|}{\lambda}}; \qquad C(0) = \frac{\nu}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\tau}{D}}; \qquad \lambda = \sqrt{D\tau}.$$
 48.

Note that both the amplitude C(0) and the correlation length  $\lambda$  depend on time via  $\tau(t)$ . The expression of  $\lambda$  differs from the diffusive length  $\sqrt{Dt}$  and illustrates the combined role of diffusion and reactions. It follows from Eq. 48. that at any given time,  $\phi(x,t)$  is a Uhlenbeck- Ornstein process in space, with an exponential decay of correlations. The estimate of the typical amplitude of the gradients

$$g \sim \frac{\sqrt{C(0)}}{\lambda} \sim \frac{\nu^{1/2}}{D^{3/4}} \tau^{-1/4},$$
 49.

is the typical amplitude of the fluctuations divided by their characteristic length scale.

Let us first consider the regime of slow drives, i.e., small  $\beta$ . The height of the metastable barrier reduces as the distance  $(a(t) - \phi_0(t))$  shrinks with time (see Eq. 46.). Conversely, the amplitude of fluctuations,  $\sqrt{C(0)}$ , increases as time progresses (see Eq. 48). Eventually, these trends will lead to a jump above the metastable barrier and the nucleation of a seed that will spread as a trigger wave, as discussed in Section 3.1. Since f changes with time, the typical speed  $U_{trigger}$  of the trigger waves will change accordingly. Its dependence on D and  $F_0$  is the usual square-root (see Section 3.1.1) for trigger waves. Its dependence on  $\beta$  is determined as follows.

Jumps occur at a typical time such that the rate of transition across the metastable barrier multiplied by the time spent quasi-adiabatically in that state is of order unity. The latter is clearly  $\propto 1/\beta$ . As for the former, a jump requires that the maximum of the field  $\phi(x,t)$  passes the threshold imposed by the metastable barrier. The calculation of the statistics of strong excursions for the Uhlenbeck–Ornstein process in Eq. 48. is detailed in (160). The upshot is that the exponentially dominant term (apart from dimensional prefactors) for the rate of transition above the metastable barrier is  $\sim \exp\left[-\frac{(a-\phi_0)^2}{2C(0)}\right]$ . We can then use C(0) in Eq. 48. and Eq. 46. to conclude that the factor at the exponential  $\propto (F^* - \beta t)^{5/4}$  and therefore  $F^* - \beta t \sim (-\log \beta)^{4/5}$ . The speed of a trigger wave close to the bifurcation point is  $U^* - U_{trig} \propto a(t) - \phi_0(t) \propto \sqrt{F^* - \beta t}$ , where  $U^*$  is the maximal

speed that is attained at the bifurcation itself (see, for instance, the analytical formula Eq. 39.). We conclude that

$$U^* - U_{trigger} \propto \left(-\log\beta\right)^{2/5}$$
, 50.

which was confirmed by numerical simulations in (160).

Phase II: critical dynamics and sweep phase waves at fast drives. For fast drives, the adiabatic condition for the validity of phase I is violated before a wave is triggered and a different regime sets in. It is intuitive that as  $\phi_0(t)$  moves at speeds comparable to the relaxation time  $\tau$ , typical values of  $\phi$  will lag and the difference  $\langle \phi(x,t) \rangle - \phi_0(t)$  will be negative (see (160) for an explicit expression). The actual time  $t_{min}$  to reach the level  $\phi^*$  where f has its minimum will then be longer than  $t^* = F^*/\beta$ . Close to its minimum  $\phi^*$ , the force in Eq. 45 is well approximated by its quadratic expansion  $\beta t - F^* + F_0 \gamma (\phi - \phi_*)^2$ , where  $\gamma = \sqrt{3}/2$ . Neglecting diffusion, the growth of  $\Phi \equiv \phi - \phi^*$  is then given by

$$\beta \frac{d\Phi}{dz} = F_0 \gamma \Phi^2 + z + \delta \,, \tag{51}$$

where we have defined  $z \equiv \beta (t - t_{min})$  and  $\delta$  is the delay  $\beta (t_{min} - t^*)$  due to non-adiabatic effects. It is checked that the equation is scale invariant if  $\Phi^2$ , z and  $\delta$  are all scaled by  $\beta^{2/3}$ . More precisely, since  $\beta$  has dimensions  $time^{-2}$  and  $F_0$  has dimensions  $time^{-1}$ , the scalings are  $(\beta/F_0^2)^{2/3}$  for  $\Phi^2$  and  $F_0 (\beta/F_0^2)^{2/3}$  for z and  $\delta$ . For those times and amplitudes, all terms in Eq. 51. are balanced and comparable. For smaller values of  $\Phi$ , quadratic terms are negligible, which leads to the behavior  $\beta \Phi \sim z^2/2 + z\delta$ . As noted in the main text, during this phase the profiles are swept up without any distortion, i.e., spatial gradients are preserved, which leads to a phase wave with speed

$$U_{sweep} = \frac{d\Phi/dt}{g} \,. \tag{52.}$$

The expression involves the factor 1/g typical of phase waves (79, 168) and the numerator is the rate at which the field is swept up.

Eq. 7. for the speed in the main text is obtained as follows. The numerator is estimated at the upper limit of phase II as  $d\Phi/dt = z + \delta \sim F_0 \left(\beta/F_0^2\right)^{2/3}$ . The denominator is estimated at the lower limit of phase II, when phase I is transitioning to phase II. Then, the gradients have been formed and are getting frozen. The expressions 49. and 46., together with the scalings of z and  $\delta$ , yield  $\tau \sim (\beta F_0)^{-1/3}$  and therefore  $g \sim \nu^{1/2} D^{-3/4} (\beta F_0)^{1/12}$ . By combining numerator and denominator, we finally obtain Eq. 7.:

$$U_{sweep} \propto \frac{\beta^{7/12} D^{3/4}}{\nu^{1/2} F_{\circ}^{5/12}} \,.$$
 53

We refer to the original Ref. (160) for experimental and numerical tests.

**Phase III: conservation of temporal delays.** Phase III, corresponds to the late period when the system is monostable and typical values of the field  $\phi(x, t)$  are well above zero but have not reached yet the unique fixed point left. The time-independent component of the force (cubic in Eq. 45.) is then strong and dominates over  $\beta t$ . Diffusion was already neglected in phase II, and will then be even more negligible as compared to the stronger forcing of phase III. It follows that spatial regions of the field  $\phi$  grow by and large independently of each other, and their rate of growth is roughly time-independent (autonomous growth).

The major consequence of autonomous growth taking place in phase III is that delays among different spatial points are conserved. Indeed, let us consider the autonomous equation  $d\phi/dt = f(\phi)$ , where f is the force profile at a fixed typical time during phase III, and integrate it as  $\int \frac{d\phi}{f(\phi)} = \int dt$  between two levels:  $\phi_1$  and a higher level  $\phi_2$ . We see then that the time needed for that growth is fixed, i.e., does not depend on the time at which  $\phi_1$  was reached. In the presence of noise, the above argument remains valid on average. We conclude that the delays set during phase II among the spatial points of the field  $\phi$  are conserved on average during phase III, and they do not depend on the threshold.

In sum, the passages of a threshold level by different spatial points are temporally ordered during phase III as at the end of phase II (when sweep waves set the delays). The connection with mitotic waves in *Drosophila* development is that phase II corresponds to the middle/end of the S phase, and phase III spans the various phases of mitosis. The conservation of delays during phase III rationalizes the experimental observation that the waves at the entry into (and exit out of) mitosis are strongly correlated with the speed of the chemical Cdk1 wave generated during the S phase of the cell cycle (26, 160).

#### G. FHN stability analysis

The Jacobian stability matrix for the FHN model (see Eq. 8 in 4.1 with D = 0) is proportional to:

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} f_v/r & f_w/r \\ g_v & g_w \end{pmatrix},$$
 54.

where all the partial derivatives are evaluated at the fixed point and  $r = \tau_v / \tau_w$  is the ratio of the timescales defined in Section 4.1. Most terms in the trace and the determinant

$$\operatorname{Tr}_J \propto f_v + rg_w; \qquad \Delta_J \propto f_v g_w - f_w g_v \qquad 55.$$

have a fixed sign by the definition of the FHN model (see Section 4.1):  $g_w < 0, f_w < 0$  and  $g_v > 0$ . Conversely, the sign of  $f_v$  depends on the location of the fixed point (see Fig. 5): (I) if the fixed point is on the recovery or the excitatory branch, then  $f_v < 0$ ; (II) if the fixed point is on the middle, unstable branch, then  $f_v > 0$ . In case (I), it follows then that  $Tr_J < 0$  and  $\Delta_J > 0$ , which implies that the fixed point is stable (see Fig. 5.2.8 in (151)). For case (II), the signs of both trace and determinant can change. However, for r small, it will generally happen that the first to change sign will be the trace while  $\Delta_J$  is still positive. This is the condition for the two complex eigenvalues to cross the imaginary axis, that is a Hopf bifurcation (151). That leads to loss of stability of the fixed point and flow of the orbits towards a limit cycle.

#### H. Wave trains in excitable systems

The framework that we have used to investigate the propagation of a single pulse in excitable systems can also be used to understand how periodic wave trains are supported and how their dispersion relation is shaped in excitable systems. Let us consider again a pulse as in Section 4.3, traveling with velocity  $c(w_s)$ . After a time T, we deliver a second stimulation at the origin, which we repeat periodically, by giving a strong kick to the excitatory variable v and keeping w fixed. Pulses following the first one are triggered before the system has fully recovered and the level of their controller variable w will then be greater than  $w_s$ .

That leads to a (generally slower) velocity, which will itself affect the controller level in the back of the up-front as we have described in Section 4.3. Over time, the controller levels at the front and the back of individual pulses will stabilize to constant levels, denoted by  $w_f$  and  $w_b$ , respectively. Their values are determined by imposing the two conditions that the various pulses travel at the same speed and that the time to complete the cycle is the stimulation time T:

$$c(w_f) = |c(w_b)|;$$
  $T = T_e + T_r \simeq \int_{w_f}^{w_b} \frac{du}{G_e(u)} + \int_{w_b}^{w_f} \frac{du}{G_r(u)},$  56.

where  $G_{r/e}(w) \equiv g(V_{r/e}(w), w)$  and we neglected the short duration of the phases of crossing between the excitatory and recovery branches because  $r \ll 1$ . The dispersion relation c(T) resulting from Eqs. 56. typically features a minimal period and multiple branches with different stability properties. For more information, we refer to the original publications (29, 95).

#### I. Fisher-Kolmogorov waves for a quadratically unstable potential

As in Appendix C, we consider the system of equations 26. but, contrary to the metastable case considered there, the function f at the origin is not locally stable. The standard Fisher-Kolmogorov case has f'(0) > 0 (112), while here we need to consider the case where  $f(\varphi) \sim \varphi^2$  near the origin.

This problem is motivated by the case of excitable waves when the speed of the upfront, say  $c(w_s)$  for a front at the controller level  $w_s$  of the fixed point, exceeds the maximal speed of the downfront  $|c_{min}|$ . As discussed in the main text, the knee of the f nullcline is reached and it is unclear how up- and down-fronts can match. We want to show that, as for the standard Fisher-Kolmogorov case, there is a continuum of possible speeds, starting from  $|c_{min}|$  and going up to arbitrarily fast ones. Solutions are normally selected by the spatial decay of the initial condition (158): rapidly decaying ones propagate with the minimum velocity (which corresponds to the fastest decay), and higher and higher speeds are selected as initial conditions decay more and more slowly. In the case of excitable waves, the "initial condition" for the down-front is determined by the back of the up-front, which progressively selects the mode that moves with speed  $c(w_s)$ .

For concreteness, we consider the case of a front that converges to 0 and 1 as  $\xi \to \pm \infty$ , respectively. As shown in Appendix C, the point  $\varphi = 1$  is a saddle point, eigenvalues are given by Eq. 27. and the slope along the unstable direction is  $e_w/e_{\varphi} = \lambda_+$ , which is a decreasing function of c. This result, together with the fact that  $\frac{dw}{d\xi}$  increases with c (see Eq. 26. and we remind that w < 0), show that the trajectory  $\varphi_1$  for  $c_1 > c_2$  is above  $\varphi_2$ . The difference with the metastable case is that f is positive in (0, 1), which implies that the trajectory cannot cross the axis w = 0 (see the Eq. 26. for  $dw/d\xi$ : on the axis w = 0, the derivative  $dw/d\xi = -f \le 0$ ). We conclude that, if there is a heteroclinic trajectory for  $\overline{c}$ , then all  $c > \overline{c}$  will have a heteroclinic trajectory (because they are trapped between the axis w = 0 and the trajectory  $\phi_{\overline{c}}$ ).

It remains to prove that there is indeed a heteroclinic trajectory for a proper choice  $c = \overline{c}$ . This is shown exactly as in Appendix C. The trajectory at  $(\varphi = 1, w = 0)$  is indeed above the line  $w + b\varphi = 0$  and Eq. 28. shows that for  $c \ge 2\sqrt{K}$  the trajectory cannot cross the line. Since the trajectory cannot cross the axis w = 0 either (because  $f \ge 0$ ), it follows that the trajectory is trapped in a triangle and, since  $d\varphi/d\xi = w < 0$ , it must

asymptotically land at (0, 0).

Finally, we remark that the condition  $c \ge 2\sqrt{K}$  is sufficient but not necessary, as shown by the explicit example of the force  $f = \varphi^2 (1 - \varphi)$ , which can be solved analytically. Indeed, taking the limit  $a \to \varphi_0 = 0$  and  $\varphi_1 = 1$  in the general solution 39., we obtain a minimum speed  $c = 1/\sqrt{2}$ , which is below the bound  $2\sqrt{K} = 2\sqrt{\max\left(\frac{f(\varphi)}{\varphi}\right)}$ .

#### J. Curvature effects in multi-dimensional fronts

Effects of curvature were first discussed by Zykov (173, 174), later re-derived in (76, 74) and experimentally tested in (44). Here, we shall give a brief introduction to those effects and then present the methodology in (76, 74), which builds on the eikonal-type equations that were also exploited for flame fronts (45, 46).

The intuition is conveyed visually by Figure 6 in the main text and confirmed by the following formula. Given the general Eq. 1., the expression for the speed  $U_{\kappa}$  of a curved front reads (see below for a derivation):

$$U_{\kappa} = c\sqrt{DF_0} - D\left(\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{n}}\right), \qquad 57.$$

where c is the speed of a planar front in non-dimensional units (which may for instance be obtained by solving Eq. 2. as discussed previously). The factor  $-(\nabla \cdot \hat{n})$  involves the divergence of the normal to the front in the sense of its progression. That is shown (see below) to be the mean curvature of the wavefront in two dimensions, and twice the mean curvature in three dimensions. Its sign is positive if the front curves "toward" the normal and negative in the opposite case (see Fig. 6 in the main text).

Two remarks are in order. First, the expression 57. illustrates the physical need of a sufficiently large excited area for a wavefront to propagate away from a center. Indeed, the wavefront will fail to spread outward ( $U_{\kappa} \leq 0$ ) if the initial radius  $R \lesssim \sqrt{D/F_0}$ . Second, the net effect of the correction term is to stabilize planar fronts : a protruding bulge on a planar front will indeed slow down and be caught up by the rest of the front, whilst an intruding cavity is sped up and will catch up with the rest of the front. These effects of course do not prevent the formation and propagation of curved fronts in the presence of spatial non-homogeneities and/or proper stimulation. That is the case of spiral waves in two dimensions, which are relevant for the aggregation of *Dictyostelium discoideum* colonies (89, 77), and scroll waves in three dimensions, which are relevant for excitable cardiac tissues (23, 19, 73, 115). A detailed discussion of scroll and spiral waves is beyond the scope of our review, and we refer to Winfree's pioneering publications (167, 166), the review (104) and references therein.

#### J.1. Eikonal-type equations

We introduce coordinates  $\boldsymbol{\xi}$  attached to the front, with the original coordinate  $\boldsymbol{x} = \boldsymbol{X}(\boldsymbol{\xi}, \tau)$ and  $\tau = t$  introduced just to keep notation clear. It follows that  $\partial_{\xi_i} = \frac{\partial x_j}{\partial \xi_i} \partial_{x_j}$  and  $\partial_{\tau} = \partial_t + \frac{\partial x_j}{\partial \tau} \partial_{x_j}$  and therefore

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} = T_{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j}; \qquad \frac{\partial}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} - \frac{\partial x_i}{\partial \tau} T_{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j}, \qquad 58.$$

where the matrix T is the inverse of the matrix  $\frac{\partial x_j}{\partial \xi_i}$ . Using 58., we transform the original reaction-diffusion equation 1. into

$$\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial \tau} - T_{ij} \frac{\partial x_i}{\partial \tau} \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial \xi_j} = D T_{ij} T_{ik} \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial \xi_j \partial \xi_k} + D \frac{\partial T_{ij}}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial \xi_j} + F_0 f(\phi) \,. \tag{59}$$

As in geometric optics, the eikonal equation aims at describing the phase fronts of waves. It is assumed that the field  $\phi$  changes most rapidly along one direction (the normal to the front), which we identify as the  $\xi_1$  coordinate. The other coordinates (one in 2D and two in 3D) are transverse to the front, i.e., change along it. Derivatives of  $\phi$  with respect to transverse coordinates are negligible, as well as variations in time in the frame attached to the front. It follows that 59. reduces to

$$D|\boldsymbol{s}|^{2}\phi'' + \phi'\left[D\left(\boldsymbol{\nabla}\cdot\boldsymbol{s}\right) + \boldsymbol{s}\cdot\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{X}}{\partial\tau}\right] + F_{0}f(\phi) = 0, \qquad 60.$$

with the components of the vector s defined as  $s_i \equiv T_{i1}$ ,  $\nabla_j \equiv \partial_{x_j}$  and primes indicate derivates with respect to  $\xi_1$ .

Eq. 60. is recognized to be of the form 2. in Section 3.1.1, provided

$$D|\boldsymbol{s}|^2 = F_0; \qquad D(\boldsymbol{\nabla}\cdot\boldsymbol{s}) + \boldsymbol{s}\cdot\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{X}}{\partial\tau} = cF_0.$$
 61.

We will show momentarily that s is along the normal  $\hat{n}_1$  to the front in its direction of propagation. Furthermore, the first equation shows that  $|s| = \sqrt{F_0/D}$ . From the second equation, we conclude then that the velocity of the front  $U_{\kappa}$  is

$$U_{\kappa} = \hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_{1} \cdot \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{X}}{\partial \tau} = c\sqrt{F_{0}D} - D\left(\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_{1}\right), \qquad 62.$$

which is the formula 57. announced above.

The fact that the factor  $-(\nabla \cdot \hat{n}_1)$  is indeed proportional to the mean curvature in 2D or twice it in 3D can either be read in books on differential geometry (see, e.g., (17)) or verified directly. The local structure of the contour levels for a 3D situation will indeed be  $\phi = x + ay^2 + 2byz + cz^2 = \text{const.}$ , where x is the coordinate normal to the front and the two other coordinates are transverse. It follows that the normal

$$\hat{n}_{1} = \frac{(1, 2(ay + bz), 2(by + cz))}{\sqrt{1 + 4(ay + bz)^{2} + 4(by + cz)^{2}}}.$$
63.

Taking the divergence of the vector at the origin yields  $-(\nabla \cdot \hat{n}_1) = -2(a+c)$ , which is indeed twice the mean curvature. In 2D, there is no z coordinate and the expression reduces indeed to the second derivative -2a, which gives the curvature. Finally, the sign is positive/negative for the two situations sketched in Figure 6.

It remains to show that  $s \parallel \hat{n}_1$ , where  $s_i \equiv T_{i1}$ . The starting point is  $T_{ij}^{-1} = \frac{\partial x_j}{\partial \xi_i}$ , which stems from Eq. 58.. We define the *i*-th tangent vector  $\mathbf{t}_i = \frac{\partial x}{\partial \xi_i}$ ; its *j*-th component is the matrix element  $T_{ij}^{-1}$ . For the inversion of the matrix, it is convenient to introduce normal vectors. In 2D, we introduce  $\mathbf{n}_1 = \mathbf{t}_2 \times \hat{z}$  and  $\mathbf{n}_2 = \hat{z} \times \mathbf{t}_1$ . By orienting  $\mathbf{t}_1$  normal to the front and in the direction of motion, and the other two axes to form a right-handed system, simple algebra yields that the determinant  $|T^{-1}| = \mathbf{t}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n}_1 = \mathbf{t}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n}_2$  and  $T_{ij} \propto (\mathbf{n}_j)_i$ , which is what we meant to obtain. In 3D, we similarly introduce  $\mathbf{n}_1 = \mathbf{t}_2 \times \mathbf{t}_3$ ,  $\mathbf{n}_2 = \mathbf{t}_3 \times \mathbf{t}_1$  and  $\mathbf{n}_3 = \mathbf{t}_1 \times \mathbf{t}_2$ . We orient again  $\mathbf{t}_1$  normal to the front and in the direction of motion, and the other two axes to form a right-handed system. Algebra yields again that the determinant  $|T^{-1}| = \mathbf{t}_1 \cdot \mathbf{n}_1 = \mathbf{t}_2 \cdot \mathbf{n}_2 = \mathbf{t}_3 \cdot \mathbf{n}_3$  and  $T_{ij} \propto (\mathbf{n}_j)_i$ , as anticipated.

#### K. The dynamics close to a Hopf bifurcation

This appendix will detail the derivation of the Stuart-Landau equation, for which we shall be following the procedure outlined in Kuramoto's book (82). The starting point is the rewriting of the generic dynamical-system equation  $d\mathbf{X}/dt = F(\mathbf{X})$  as

$$\frac{d\boldsymbol{u}}{dt} = J\boldsymbol{u} + M\boldsymbol{u}\boldsymbol{u} + N\boldsymbol{u}\boldsymbol{u}\boldsymbol{u} + \dots, \qquad 64.$$

where  $\boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{X} - \boldsymbol{X}_0$  is the deviation to the steady-state solution, which is supposed to be stable for negative value of the control parameter  $\mu$  and lose stability at  $\mu = 0$ . The Jacobian matrix has elements  $J_{ij} = \partial F_i / \partial X_j$  with derivatives calculated at the critical point. The matrix has all its eigenvalues in the left half-plane except two, which are complex conjugate and cross the imaginary axis at  $\mu = 0$ . Their values are  $\pm i\omega_0$ . Additional terms in 64. stand for higher-order terms in the Taylor expansion of F, e.g.,  $M\boldsymbol{u}\boldsymbol{u} = \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial^2 F_i}{\partial X_j \partial X_k} u_j u_k$ , etc.. Note that M is symmetric in the indices j and k, and a similar property holds for N.

The amplitude of the oscillations on the unstable side is expected to be  $\propto \sqrt{\mu}$ . We define then  $\epsilon \equiv \sqrt{|\mu|}$  and expand

$$\boldsymbol{u} = \epsilon \boldsymbol{u}_1 + \epsilon^2 \boldsymbol{u}_2 + \dots \tag{65.}$$

The matrices J, M and N are expected to be expandable in the control parameter  $\mu$ , i.e.,

$$J = J_0 + \epsilon^2 \chi J_1 + \epsilon^4 J_2 + \dots; \qquad M = M_0 + \epsilon^2 \chi M_1 + \dots; \qquad \text{etc.}. \qquad 66.$$

where  $\mu = \epsilon^2 \operatorname{sgn}(\mu) \equiv \epsilon^2 \chi$ . Finally, the growth of the amplitude is expected to occur on long timescales of the order  $1/\mu$ , which suggests to introduce a slow-time  $\tau = \epsilon^2 t$ . Following the multiple timescale methods (10),  $\tau$  is treated as independent of t so as to remove secular terms which would spoil the naïf perturbation scheme. Inserting all these expansions, reorganizing the terms and grouping them by their order in  $\epsilon$ , we obtain a system of equations of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{0}\boldsymbol{u}_{\nu} \equiv \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} - J_{0}\right)\boldsymbol{u}_{\nu} = \boldsymbol{B}_{\nu}\left(t\right), \qquad 67.$$

where

$$B_1 = 0; \quad B_2 = M_0 u_1 u_1; \quad B_3 = 2M_0 u_1 u_2 + N_0 u_1 u_1 u_1 - \partial_{\tau} u_1 + \chi J_1 u_1.$$
 68.

Because of the structure of J, the solution of the basic equation  $\mathcal{L}_0 u_1 = 0$  is

$$\boldsymbol{u}_1 = \boldsymbol{U}e^{i\omega_0 t}W(\tau) + c.c. \tag{69}$$

where *c.c.* stands for complex conjugate, and U is the right eigenvector of  $J_0$ . All the other components relax rapidly to zero because the non-critical eigenvalues of J are in the left half-plane. The left eigenvector of  $J_0$  corresponding to the eigenvalue  $i\omega_0$  is denoted by V, that is  $VJ_0 = i\omega_0 V$ . Left and right eigenvectors being orthogonal, it holds  $V^* \cdot U = 0$  with the star denoting complex conjugation.

The Fredholm alternative theorem states that linear non-homogeneous equations of the type Eq. 67. admit a solution only if their right-hand side is orthogonal to the zero modes of the adjoint operator (22). In our case, the operator adjoint to  $\mathcal{L}_0$  is  $\mathcal{L}_0^{\dagger} = -\partial_t - J_0^{\dagger}$ , where

<sup>36</sup> Di Talia and Vergassola

 $J_0^{\dagger}$  is the matrix transposed and complex conjugated. Since  $\mathbf{V}^* J_0^* = J_0^{\dagger} \mathbf{V}^* = -i\omega_0 \mathbf{V}^*$ , it follows that the solutions of  $\mathcal{L}_0^{\dagger} \mathbf{Z} = 0$  are  $\mathbf{V}^* e^{i\omega_0 t}$  and its complex conjugate. We conclude that the solvability condition for Eqs. 67. reads:

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi/\omega_0} \boldsymbol{V} \cdot \boldsymbol{B}_{\nu} \ e^{-i\omega_0 t} \, dt = 0 \,.$$
 70.

The complex conjugate orthogonality condition does not bring any additional constraint for real  $B_{\nu}$ 's. Notice that the only components of  $B_{\nu}$  which yield a non-trivial solvability condition are those  $\propto e^{+i\omega_0 t}$ .

The right-hand side  $B_2$  contains the square of  $u_1$  and therefore no component  $\propto e^{i\omega_0 t}$ , i.e., the solvability condition is automatically satisfied. The solution at the second order is then

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{2} = \left[ \left( \boldsymbol{A}_{+} e^{2i\omega_{o}t} W^{2}(\tau) + c.c. \right) + \boldsymbol{A}_{0} |W(\tau)|^{2} \right] + \left( \boldsymbol{U} e^{i\omega_{0}t} W_{2}(\tau) + c.c. \right), \quad 71.$$

where the terms in square/round brackets are the non-homogeneous/homogeneous parts of the solution. The vectors  $\mathbf{A}_{+} = -(J_0 - 2i\omega_0)^{-1} M_0 \mathbf{U} \mathbf{U}$  and  $\mathbf{A}_0 = -2J_0^{-1} M_0 \mathbf{U} \mathbf{U}^*$ . The (last) homogeneous term of the solution will not play any role in the sequel.

At the third order, we finally obtain the first non-trivial solvability condition, which yields the long-term evolution of the amplitude  $W(\tau)$ . Identifying the terms  $\propto e^{i\omega_0 t}$  of  $B_3$  in Eq. 68., we obtain

$$\partial_{\tau} W(\tau) = \chi \lambda_1 W(\tau) - g |W^2| W, \qquad 72.$$

where  $g \equiv -2\mathbf{V}M_0\mathbf{U}\mathbf{A}_0 - 2\mathbf{V}M_0\mathbf{U}^*\mathbf{A}_+ - 3\mathbf{V}N_0\mathbf{U}\mathbf{U}\mathbf{U}^*$ . We have normalized for convenience the eigenvectors to have  $\mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{U} = 1$ . The coefficient  $\lambda_1 = \mathbf{V}J_1\mathbf{U}$  is the first-order eigenvalue of the Jacobian. Indeed, using  $(J_0 + \mu J_1) (\mathbf{U} + \mu \mathbf{U}_1) = (i\omega_0 + \mu\lambda_1) (\mathbf{U} + \mu \mathbf{U}_1)$ , multiplying by  $\mathbf{V}$  on the left, and using  $\mathbf{V}J_0\mathbf{U}_1 = i\omega_0\mathbf{V}\cdot\mathbf{U}_1$ , we obtain the above equality.

Eq. 72. is the Stuart-Landau equation discussed in the main text, with the standard replacement of the slow time-derivative by the original one, so that the derivative is taken with respect to the original time t, although the amplitude W changes only slowly. Similar methods are used to obtain the Ginzburg-Landau Eq. 11 for extended systems, see (82).

#### L. The $\lambda$ - $\omega$ model

The  $\lambda$ - $\omega$  is a class of two-dimensional non-linear oscillators that is particularly useful as it admits analytical solutions (80). The model is defined as

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \lambda(r)x - \omega(r)y; \qquad \frac{dy}{dt} = \omega(r)x + \lambda(r)y.$$

$$73.$$

In radial coordinates  $(r, \phi)$ , the equations reads

$$\frac{dr}{dt} = r\lambda(r); \qquad \frac{d\phi}{dt} = \omega(r).$$
 74.

The equation for the radial coordinate lends then to quadrature. In particular, if  $\lambda(r)$  has at least one zero  $r = r^*$  with a negative derivative  $d\lambda/dr < 0$  at  $r = r^*$ , then the system has a limit cycle with  $r = r^*$  and the azimuthal coordinate rotating with the constant speed  $\omega(r^*)$ . The phase on the limit cycle coincides then with the azimuthal coordinate  $\phi$ .

To determine the phase  $\Theta$  outside of the limit cycle, it is convenient to specify the form of the two functions as  $\lambda(r) = 1 - r^2$  and  $\omega(r) = \alpha - \beta r^2$ . Eq. 74. reduces then to the radial form of the Stuart-Landau equation (with proper rescalings) discussed in the main text:

$$\frac{dr}{dt} = r \left[1 - r^2\right]; \qquad \frac{d\phi}{dt} = \left[\alpha - \beta r^2\right].$$

$$75.$$

Other choices for  $\lambda$  and  $\omega$  can be treated similarly. The limit cycle at  $r^* = 1$  has uniform angular speed  $\alpha - \beta$ , and its basin of attraction is the whole plane except the origin. The radial equation is readily integrated by partial fraction decomposition to give

$$r(t) = \left(1 + \frac{1 - r_0^2}{r_0^2} e^{-2t}\right)^{-1/2}.$$
 76.

Note that  $d\log r = \lambda(r)dt = (1 - r^2) dt$ . The equation for  $\phi$  reads then

$$\frac{d\phi}{dt} = \alpha - \beta + \beta \left(1 - r^2\right) = \alpha - \beta + \beta \frac{d\log r}{dt} \,. \tag{77.}$$

This relation will be used in Appendix O to determine the expression of the isochrones shown in Fig. 7C of the main text.

The addition of diffusion to Eq. 73. permits the spreading of traveling waves. Indeed, Eq. 73. in radial coordinates becomes then

$$\frac{\partial r}{\partial t} = r\lambda(r) + r_{\xi\xi} - r\left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial\xi}\right)^2; \qquad \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial t} = \omega(r) + \frac{1}{r^2}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi}\left(r^2\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial\xi}\right), \qquad 78.$$

where we have taken the wave to spread in a generic spatial  $\xi$ -direction. Let us consider for simplicity the case of the Stuart-Landau equation with  $\beta = 0$ . Eqs. 78. admit then the solution  $r = r_0 < 1$  and  $\phi = \omega t - k\xi$ , where  $k^2 = 1 - r_0^2$  and  $\omega = \alpha$ . We refer to (34) for more details and results on the stability of these traveling waves.

#### M. Stability of plane waves in the Ginzburg-Landau equation

The goal of this Appendix is to detail the derivation of the Benjamin-Feir-Newell criterion that governs the stability of plane waves solutions Eq. 12. to the Ginzburg-Landau (GL) equation that were discussed in the main text. Let us consider a small perturbation  $a(\mathbf{x}, t)$  of the wave solution and study its evolution:

$$z(\boldsymbol{x},t) = \sqrt{1-k^2} \left[1+a(\boldsymbol{x},t)\right] e^{i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}-\omega(k)t}.$$
79.

Inserting into the GL Eq. 11., linearizing and after some algebra, we obtain for a:

$$\partial_t a = -(a+a^*) \left(1-k^2\right) (1+ic) + (1+id) \left(\Delta a + 2i\mathbf{k} \cdot \nabla a\right) \,. \tag{80}$$

The presence of  $a^*$  at the right-hand side makes that each Fourier mode  $e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}}$  will be coupled to its complex conjugate and vice versa. We can then search for a solution in the form

$$a(\boldsymbol{x},t) = R(t)e^{i\boldsymbol{q}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} + S^*(t)e^{-i\boldsymbol{q}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}}, \qquad 81.$$

where the complex conjugate on S is just a matter of convenience. Insertion of 81. into 80. yields the equations for R and S:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t R = \left[ -\left(1 - k^2\right)\left(1 + ic\right) - q^2\left(1 + id\right) - 2\left(1 + id\right)\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{q} \right] R - \left(1 - k^2\right)\left(1 + ic\right)S, \\ \partial_t S = \left[ -\left(1 - k^2\right)\left(1 - ic\right) - q^2\left(1 - id\right) + 2\left(1 - id\right)\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{q} \right] S - \left(1 - k^2\right)\left(1 - ic\right)R. \end{cases}$$
82.

Note that Eq. 82. has a zero-mode for q = 0, i.e., S = -R is a stationary solution. For  $q \neq 0$  this marginal mode can become stable or unstable as we proceed to discuss.

The equation for the eigenvalues  $e^{\lambda t}$  of Eq. 82. is:

$$0 = \lambda^{2} + 2\lambda \left[ 1 - k^{2} + q^{2} + 2id\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{q} \right] + 2q^{2} \left( 1 - k^{2} \right) (1 + cd) + q^{4} \left( 1 + d^{2} \right) + 4i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{q} \left( 1 - k^{2} \right) (d - c) - 4 \left( 1 + d^{2} \right) (\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{q})^{2} .$$
 83.

By expanding this equation for small q, we find for the marginal mode:

$$\lambda \simeq -2i \left( \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{q} \right) \left( d - c \right) - q^2 \left[ (1 + cd) - 2 \frac{\left( \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{q} \right)^2}{q^2 \left( 1 - k^2 \right)} \left( 1 + c^2 \right) \right] + O\left( q^3 \right) \,. \tag{84.}$$

The expression 84. finally yields the Benjamin-Feir-Newell criterion for stability: If 1+cd > 0, then the range of modes  $k^2 < \frac{1+cd}{3+cd+2c^2}$  is stable. The modes that destabilize first are longitudinal, i.e., maximizing  $(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{q})^2$ . For c = d, the Benjamin-Feir-Newell expression reduces to the classical Eckhaus criterion  $k^2 < 1/3$  (31). For the evolution of unstable modes beyond their threshold of instability, we refer again to the classical review (5) and references therein.

#### N. Plane waves in reaction-diffusion equations close to a Hopf bifurcation

The goal of this Appendix is to provide a description of the arguments in (80) that show the generic presence of waves for reaction-diffusion equations close to a Hopf bifurcation. The starting point is the general reaction-diffusion form

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{X}\left(\boldsymbol{x},t\right)}{\partial t} = \boldsymbol{F}\left(\boldsymbol{X}\right) + K\Delta\boldsymbol{X},$$
85.

where K is the positive-definite and symmetric diffusivity matrix and the Jacobian matrix  $J_{ij} = \partial F_i / \partial X_j$  is assumed to have the Hopf structure, i.e., two conjugate eigenvalues cross the imaginary axis and all the others are in the left half plane. The goal is to prove the existence of small-amplitude periodic solutions  $\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{h} \left( \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x} - \omega t \right)$  to Eq. 13.. To adapt to the notation in (80), we shall use the equivalent variable  $\xi \equiv t - \frac{\hat{n} \cdot \mathbf{x}}{v}$ , where v is the phase velocity. Inserting this ansatz into Eq. 13., the problem is rephrased into the existence of a periodic solution for

$$\boldsymbol{h}' = J\boldsymbol{h} + \beta K \boldsymbol{h}'', \qquad 86.$$

where the prime denotes the derivative with respect to  $\xi$ . If a solution of period T is found for some  $\beta > 0$ , then  $\omega = 2\pi/T$ , the phase velocity of the wave  $v = 1/\sqrt{\beta}$  and its wavenumber  $k = \omega\sqrt{\beta}$ . We shall restrict here for simplicity to the case of a two-dimensional system:  $\mathbf{X} = (X_1, X_2)$ , and refer to (80) for the general case.

The 2 × 2 Jacobian matrix J has eigenvalues  $\lambda_0 \pm i\omega_0$ , with  $\lambda_0, \omega_0 > 0$ . The matrices J and K are rewritten as

$$J = \frac{\text{Tr}J}{2} \left( I + \tilde{J} \right) = \lambda_0 \left( I + \tilde{J} \right) ; \qquad K = \frac{\text{Tr}K}{2} \left( I + \kappa \tilde{K} \right) , \qquad 87.$$

where the traces  $\text{Tr}\tilde{J} = 0$ ,  $\text{Tr}\tilde{K} = 0$ , the matrix  $\tilde{K}$  has eigenvalues  $\pm 1$ . The parameter  $\kappa \geq 0$  is a measure of the deviation of K from a scalar matrix  $\propto I$ . Indeed, its expression in

terms of K matrix elements reads:  $\kappa \propto \sqrt{4K_{12}^2 + (K_{11} - K_{22})^2}$ , vanishing if  $K \propto I$ . The statement in (80) is that there is a one-parameter family of periodic solutions to Eq. 86. if

$$2\kappa < \operatorname{Tr}\left(\tilde{J}\tilde{K}\right) + \sqrt{\left[\operatorname{Tr}\left(\tilde{J}\tilde{K}\right)\right]^2 + 4\left(\frac{\omega_0}{\lambda_0}\right)^2}.$$
88.

In plain words, a solution exists generically for systems where the diffusivity matrix is not far from the identity.

#### N.1. The steps of the proof

The basic tool of the proof is the Hopf bifurcation theorem (58, 151) applied to the  $4 \times 4$  matrix

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ -\frac{1}{\beta} K^{-1} J & \frac{1}{\beta} K^{-1} \end{pmatrix},$$
 89.

which governs the linearized dynamics of the second-order equation 86. reformulated as a system of first-order equations :

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{h}'\\ \mathbf{g}' \end{pmatrix} = M \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{h}\\ \mathbf{g} \end{pmatrix}$$
90.

The proof proceeds in three steps:

1. The eigenvalues of M are the roots  $\lambda(\beta)$  of the polynomial  $\zeta(-\beta\lambda^2, \lambda)$ , where  $\zeta$  is the characteristic polynomial of the matrix  $J - \alpha^2 K$ :

$$\zeta(\alpha^2,\mu) \equiv \text{Det}\left(J - \alpha^2 K - \mu I\right) = 0.$$
91.

This is an immediate consequence of the fact that a solution  $Ue^{\lambda\xi}$  to Eq. 86. is equivalent to  $(J + \beta\lambda^2 K - \lambda I)U = 0$ , i.e., Eq. 91.. The key consequence is that the existence of a pair of conjugate eigenvalues is transferred from the  $4 \times 4$  matrix Mto the  $2 \times 2$  matrix  $J - \alpha^2 K$ . Namely, if the latter has a pair of imaginary values  $\pm i\sigma$  at  $\alpha^2 = \alpha_c^2$ , i.e., Det  $(J - \alpha_c^2 K \pm i\sigma I) = 0$ , then M will have the same pair for  $\beta = \beta_c = \alpha_c^2/\sigma^2$ .

- 2. The condition 88. ensures that there is a (single) value  $\alpha^2 = \alpha_c^2$  for which the matrix  $J \alpha^2 K$  has a pair of conjugate pure eigenvalues  $\mu(\alpha^2)$ . The eigenvalues satisfy the transversality condition  $\operatorname{Re}(d\mu/d\alpha^2) < 0$  at  $\alpha_c^2$ . Combined with 1. above, these properties demonstrate that M has a pair of conjugate imaginary eigenvalues  $\lambda(\beta)$  for a single value  $\beta_c$ .
- 3. The imaginary eigenvalues  $\lambda(\beta_c)$  of M are simple and inherit from  $\mu(\alpha^2)$  the transversality condition  $\operatorname{Re}(d\lambda/d\beta) < 0$ .

Properties 2. and 3. involve some straightforward but lengthy algebra, for which we refer to the original work (80). Explicit expressions for the waves obtained in (80) for the  $\lambda$ - $\omega$  model are discussed in Appendix L.

#### **O.** Phases and isochrones

The goal of this Section is to provide more details on the definition of the phase outside of the limit cycle  $\Gamma$  of an oscillatory dynamical system.

<sup>40</sup> Di Talia and Vergassola

Phases  $\Theta$  for points  $\mathbf{X}_0$  on the cycle are simply defined by Eq. 14.. If  $\mathbf{Y}_0$  is now a point in the basin of attraction and  $\mathbf{X}_0$  is the point on the limit cycle such that the distance  $||\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{Y}_0, t) - \mathbf{X}(\mathbf{X}_0, t)|| \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$ , then  $\Theta(\mathbf{Y}_0) \equiv \Theta(\mathbf{X}_0)$ . For each point  $\mathbf{X}_0$  on the limit cycle, the previous equality defines the (m-1)-dimensional surface of points with its same phase – dubbed "isochrone" in (164) and systematically analyzed in (57). A (rare) case where isochrones can be calculated analytically is the  $\lambda$ - $\omega$  model (80) presented in Appendix L. Indeed, by using the relation 77., we conclude that the phase  $\Theta = \phi - \beta \log(r)$ , rotates as the constant speed  $\alpha - \beta$ . The isochrones are then the spirals  $\phi - \beta \log(r) = constant$ , some of which were shown in Fig. 7C. For  $\beta = 0$ , the isochrones reduce to simple radii  $\phi = constant$ , as shown in Fig. 10.

By its very definition, the phase on  $\Gamma$  has period  $T_0$ . Let us now consider a point  $Y_0$ on the isochrone of the point  $X_0$  on  $\Gamma$ , and its mapping  $X(Y_0, T_0)$  under the stroboscopic mapping of  $Y_0$  with period  $T_0$ . The latter point has the important property that it belongs to the same isochrone as  $Y_0$ , i.e., an isochrone is mapped onto itself under the Poincaré mapping with the basic period  $T_0$ . Indeed, by breaking the (asymptotically long) duration t in the two chunks  $T_0$  and  $t - T_0$ , we recognize that  $||X(Y_0, t) - X(X_0, t)||$  (vanishing as  $t \to \infty$ ) has the same limit as  $||X(X(Y_0, T_0), t - T_0) - X(X(X_0, T_0), t - T_0)||$ , which yields the sought result since the phase of  $X(X_0, T_0)$  is the same as for  $X_0$ . More generally, we can replace the period  $T_0$  by a generic time, and thereby conclude that the phase progresses on the isochrones at the same rate as on the limit cycle, that is Eq. 14. is generally valid (and not just on  $\Gamma$ ).

#### P. The phase sensitivity function and phase resetting curve

The vector function  $\mathbf{Z}_i(\Theta) \equiv \frac{\partial \Theta}{\partial X_i}$  appeared in the main text to account for the variation of the phase due to a small stimulus. Here, we want to provide some more information on its properties and its relation to the phase resetting curve popularized in (165). We refer to (164, 82, 35) for full details.

Suppose a perturbation (with components along the *m* possible directions) is applied to a dynamical system while it is running along its limit cycle. The initial phase is  $\Theta$ . The perturbation will move the system to another point within the basin of attraction, which will be on an isochrone with phase  $\Theta'$ . The new phase is a function of  $\Theta$  and the type of perturbation applied. The function  $\Theta'(\Theta)$  (for a prescribed perturbation protocol) is called phase transition curve (PTC). The difference  $D(\Theta) = \Theta' - \Theta$  is known as phase resetting curve (PRC). In the limit when the perturbation is weak:

$$D(\Theta) \equiv \Theta' - \Theta = \frac{\partial \Theta}{\partial X_i} \delta X_i = \mathbf{Z}(\Theta) \cdot \delta \mathbf{X}, \qquad 92.$$

which is the reason why the sensitivity function Z is also called infinitesimal PRC.

#### P.1. The sensitivity function solves the adjoint equation

Let us consider the linearization of the original equation  $\frac{d\mathbf{X}}{dt} = \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{X})$  around its limit cycle  $\Gamma$  with period  $T_0$ . The corresponding periodic trajectory is denoted  $X_0(t)$ . The  $m \times m$  matrix  $J_{ij}(t) = \frac{\partial F_i}{\partial X_j}(X_0(t))$  described the dynamics of perturbations  $\delta \mathbf{X}$  around the limit cycle:

$$\frac{d\,\delta \mathbf{X}}{dt} - J(t)\,\delta \mathbf{X}(t) \equiv L\,\delta \mathbf{X} = 0\,.$$
93.

www.annualreviews.org • Waves in embryonic development 41

The operator  $L^{\dagger}$  adjoint to L is defined as

which follows the standard definition of adjoint operators (22), with the scalar product between two  $T_0$ -periodic vector functions  $\boldsymbol{u}(t)$  and  $\boldsymbol{v}(t)$  defined as  $\langle \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v} \rangle \equiv \int_0^{T_0} \boldsymbol{u}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v}(t) dt$ . The matrix  $J^{\dagger}$  in Eq. 94. is the transposed of J.

The goal of this subsection is to show that the sensitivity function Z satisfies

$$L^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{Z}(t) = 0; \qquad \boldsymbol{Z}(\Theta) \cdot \frac{d\boldsymbol{X}_{0}}{d\Theta} = 1.$$
 95.

Indeed, let us consider Eq. 14. that defines the phase. By applying a perturbation  $\delta \mathbf{X}$  to both sides, we obtain that  $\frac{d}{dt} [\mathbf{Z} \cdot \delta \mathbf{X}] = 0$ . By using Eq. 93., we obtain then

$$\frac{d\mathbf{Z}}{dt} \cdot \delta \mathbf{X} + \mathbf{Z} \cdot J \cdot \delta \mathbf{X} = \left[\frac{d\mathbf{Z}}{dt} + J^{\dagger}\mathbf{Z}\right] \cdot \delta \mathbf{X} = 0.$$
96.

Since  $\delta \mathbf{X}$  is arbitrary, we conclude that the left-hand side of Eq. 95. holds. Since the equation is homogeneous, a normalization condition is required to determine the amplitude. That is provided by the right-hand side of Eq. 95., obtained by taking the derivative with respect to  $\Theta$  of the identity  $\Theta(\mathbf{X}(\Theta)) = \Theta$  for points  $\mathbf{X}_0$  on the limit cycle.

A (rare) example where the sensitivity function can be calculated analytically is the  $\lambda$ - $\omega$  model discussed in Appendix L. If  $\lambda(1) = 0$  and  $\lambda'(1) < 0$  then a limit cycle exists with radius  $r^* = 1$  and angular velocity  $\omega(1)$ , which can be taken to be unity. The limit cycle is then  $X_0(t) = (\cos t, \sin t)$ . Differentiating Eq. 73., we find that the transposed of the perturbation matrix J reads:

$$J^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda'(1)\cos^2 t - \omega'(1)\sin t\cos t & \lambda'(1)\sin t\cos t + \omega'(1)\cos^2 t + 1\\ \lambda'(1)\sin t\cos t - \omega'(1)\sin^2 t - 1 & \lambda'(1)\sin^2 t + \omega'(1)\sin t\cos t \end{pmatrix}.$$
 97.

Some algebra shows then that the two combinations  $\mathcal{D} = Z_1 \sin t - Z_2 \cos t$  and  $\mathcal{S} = Z_1 \cos t + Z_2 \sin t$  satisfy  $\frac{d\mathcal{D}}{dt} = 0$  and  $\frac{d\mathcal{S}}{dt} = -\lambda'(1)\mathcal{S} + \omega'(1)\mathcal{D}$ . The first equation reflects the normalization condition in Eq. 95., which yields  $\mathcal{D} = -1$ . Since  $\lambda'(1) < 0$ , the homogeneous part of  $\mathcal{S}$  ought to vanish and  $\mathcal{S} = \frac{\omega'(1)}{\lambda'(1)}\mathcal{D} \equiv a$ . We conclude that

$$\mathbf{Z}(t) = (a\cos t - \sin t, a\sin t + \cos t) , \qquad 98.$$

which is the solution reported in (35).

Apart from a few other cases where an analytical solution can be obtained (see Chapter 8 in (35)), the Z function ought to be computed numerically or estimated from data. Numerically, Eq. 95. can be integrated backward in time. Since the limit cycle is stable and the sign of the time derivative is reversed between L and  $L^{\dagger}$ , backward integration will relax all the modes but the periodic one, which yields the sought periodic solution. Its overall amplitude can finally be rescaled so as to match the normalization condition. For the experimental determination and a useful example of MATLAB script to process the data (neuronal but the underlying methods are general) we refer to Chapter 10 of (70), available online at www.izhikevich.com.



An illustration of the two possible types of phase transition curves. The limit cycle and the radial isochrones are shown for the Stuart-Landau model Eq. 75. discussed in the Appendix L on the  $\lambda$ - $\omega$  model. The applied perturbation is a global rightward shift along the x-axis. The origin is a singular point where the phase is undefined. When the shift is small enough not to cross the origin, then the new phase has a monotonic dependence on the old one and span the entire range  $(0, 2\pi)$ . This is known as type 1 or weak resetting. Vice versa, if the origin is crossed, then a limited range of new phases and a non-monotonic curve are obtained. This is known as type 0 or strong resetting.

#### P.2. Two types of phase transition curves

For the experimental determination of the sensitivity function, a perturbation is applied to the system during its oscillatory limit cycle. While its amplitude should *a priori* be infinitesimal, in practice it must be strong enough to generate appreciable effects and to overcome noise. It is therefore important to be aware that, when the amplitude increases, a sharp change of regime may occur. Its underlying reason is intuited by Fig. 10, which illustrates the shift in the phase for the radial  $\lambda$ - $\omega$  model ( $\beta = 0$ , see Appendix L) under overall shifts along the abscissae. The crossing of the origin clearly discriminates between two drastically different shapes of the transition curves. The two shapes were classified in (165) as type-1 (weak) or type-0 (strong) based on the linking number of the curve when plotted on a torus (65). Even though the example shown here is deliberately as simple as possible, the existence of such a transition is quite general; its topological nature reflects the inevitable existence of singular points (as the origin in the plots of Fig. 10 or 7C in the main text) where the phase is undefined. Similar differences are present for the phase resetting curve. We refer to (165) for a fascinating discussion of this subject and singular points in natural examples, namely the circadian rhythm.

#### Q. Frequency entrainment and phase locking

The simplest example of phase dynamics is obtained by perturbing the limit cycle  $\Gamma$  (period  $T_0$ ) of an *m*-dimensional dynamical system  $\frac{d\mathbf{X}}{dt} = \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{X})$ , by adding a small-amplitude force  $\varepsilon \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{X}, t)$  periodic in time with angular frequency  $\omega$ . Phases, isochrones and the sensitivity function  $\mathbf{Z}$  are defined as discussed in Appendices O and P. Taking the time-derivative of the phase  $\Theta(\mathbf{X})$ , we obtain :

$$\frac{d\Theta}{dt} = \frac{\partial\Theta}{\partial X_i} \left[ \boldsymbol{F}_i + \varepsilon \boldsymbol{f}_i \right] = \omega_0 + \varepsilon \frac{\partial\Theta}{\partial X_i} \boldsymbol{f}_i \left( \boldsymbol{X}, t \right) \simeq \omega_0 + \varepsilon \frac{\partial\Theta}{\partial X_i} \boldsymbol{f}_i \left( \boldsymbol{X}(\Theta), t \right) \equiv \omega_0 + \varepsilon Q(\Theta, \omega t).$$

For the first two equalities, we used the chain rule and the normalization property of the sensitivity function  $\mathbf{Z}(\Theta) \cdot \mathbf{F} = \omega_0$ . The key step in Eq. 99. is the third approximation of weak-coupling: since the perturbation is small and the amplitude modes relax rapidly (while the phase does not), the long-term evolution of the trajectory can be reduced to the phase only. This approximation allows us to close the equation in terms of the phase, and obtain a one-dimensional equation rather than the *m*-dimensional original one. Note that the function Q is  $2\pi$ -periodic in both variables.

Defining  $\theta \equiv \Theta - \omega_0 t$ , we obtain  $\frac{d\theta}{dt} = \varepsilon Q(\theta + \omega_0 t, \omega t)$ , which shows that the variable  $\theta$  varies slowly, on timescales of the order  $O(1/\varepsilon)$ . Averaging methods ensure (58, 138, 65) that the long-term evolution  $d\theta/\varepsilon dt$  is determined by the time average of  $Q(\theta + \omega_0 t, \omega t)$ . By Fourier decomposing the  $2\pi$ -periodic function  $Q = \sum_{k,l} a_{k,l} e^{ik\theta + i(k\omega_0 + \ell\omega)t}$ , we see that the only terms contributing to the average must satisfy the resonance condition  $k\omega_0 + \ell\omega \simeq 0$ . The simplest resonance is for  $\omega \simeq \omega_0$  and leaves  $\ell = -k$ . That reduces the sum to a function  $q(\theta + (\omega_0 - \omega)t) = q(\Theta - \omega t)$ . Defining  $\psi \equiv \Theta - \omega t$ , we finally obtain

$$\frac{d\psi}{dt} = -\Delta\omega + \varepsilon q\left(\psi\right)\,,\tag{100}$$

where  $\Delta \omega \equiv \omega - \omega_0$  is the frequency mismatch (supposed to be order  $O(\varepsilon)$ ). For higher-order resonances where  $\omega \simeq \omega_0 k/\ell$ , we similarly have that the average of the Fourier decomposition of the *Q*-function reduces to  $Q \simeq \sum_j a_{jk,-j\ell} e^{ijk\theta + ij(k\omega_0 - \ell\omega)t}$ , that is a function of the argument  $k\Theta - \ell\omega t$ . Defining  $\psi \equiv k\Theta - \ell\omega t$  and the frequency mismatch  $\Delta \omega \equiv \ell\omega - k\omega_0$ , we obtain again the same structure as in Eq. 100.. The points  $k\omega_0 = \ell\omega$  define the tips of the regions where synchronization takes place, the so-called Arnold tongues because of their typical characteristic shape (126). In the main text, we have shown that Eq. 100. also emerges as the equation governing the dynamics of the phase difference between two weakly coupled oscillators. In that case,  $\psi$  is the phase difference between the two oscillators and  $\Delta \omega$  is their frequency mismatch.

Since the scope of this review is about waves, we defer to textbooks, see, e.g., (82, 126), for a full-fledged treatment of synchronization and restrict here to the analysis of Eq. 100. in the simplest case where the function q contains only its first harmonic:  $q(\psi) \propto \sin \psi$ . While its analysis is technically simplified, the corresponding Adler's equation (Eq. (2) in the main text):

$$\frac{d\psi}{dt} = -\Delta\omega + K\sin\left(\psi\right)\,,\tag{101}$$

qualitatively conveys the main general features of synchronization (82). When the positive amplitude of the forcing  $K \ge |\Delta \omega|$ , the system synchronizes (the frequency of oscillation coincides with that of the forcing  $\omega$ ) and the phase sets to the constant shift

 $\psi_{lock} = \arcsin\left(\frac{\Delta\omega}{K}\right)$  (phase locking). We remind that entrainment can take place for various resonances, namely entrainment taking place around the region  $\ell \omega = k\omega_0$  is known as synchronization of order  $\ell : k$ . The shape of the synchronization region (Arnold tongue) in the regime of weak amplitudes is a triangle, i.e., as the amplitude of the forcing K increases, the range of synchronized frequencies  $|\Delta\omega|$  widens  $\propto K$ . The shape of the tongues is deformed in the regime of moderate amplitudes, and the dynamics can transition to chaos for strong enough amplitudes (126).

Outside of the synchronized regions, the phase drifts. Its time evolution can be obtained analytically for the simple form of the Adler's equation by using the indefinite integral

$$\int^{X} \frac{dx}{a - b \sin x} = \frac{2 \arctan\left[\frac{a \tan \frac{X}{2} - b}{\sqrt{a^2 - b^2}}\right]}{\sqrt{a^2 - b^2}}.$$
 102.

We obtain then the time-evolution of the phase as

$$t = -\frac{2 \arctan\left[\frac{\Delta\omega \tan\frac{\psi}{2} - K}{\sqrt{\Delta\omega^2 - K^2}}\right]}{\sqrt{\Delta\omega^2 - K^2}}.$$
 103.

The period T is the time taken to complete a full cycle, which yields

$$T = \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{\Delta\omega^2 - K^2}} \,. \tag{104.}$$

Close to the critical point  $\Delta \omega = \pm K$ , the period diverges as  $T \propto 1/\sqrt{|\Delta \omega - K|}$ , which is the general behavior that takes place close to the desynchronization transition. Indeed, the square-root witnesses the critical slowdown associated to the saddle-node bifurcation (151) occurring at  $\Delta \omega = \pm K$  for the Adler's equation.

#### R. Stability of waves in chains of coupled oscillators

To investigate the stability of the waves identified in Section 5.3, we consider small perturbations:  $\theta_j(t) = \omega t + j\Delta\phi + \eta_j(t)$ , and study their equations of motion:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\eta}_1 = (q^+)'(\eta_2 - \eta_1); & \dot{\eta}_n = (q^-)'(\eta_{n-1} - \eta_n); \\ \dot{\eta}_i = (q^+)'(\eta_{i+1} - \eta_i) + (q^-)'(\eta_{i-1} - \eta_i) & \text{for } i = 2, \dots n - 1. \end{cases}$$
 105

The tridiagonal matrix that controls the stability of Eq. 105. is then (see below for reasons of notation)

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} b - \alpha \ c \ 0 \ \dots \ 0 \ 0 \\ a \ b \ c \ \dots \ 0 \ 0 \\ \vdots \ \vdots \ \vdots \ \vdots \ \vdots \ \vdots \\ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ \dots \ a \ b - \beta \end{pmatrix},$$
 106.

where  $b \equiv -((q^+)' + (q^-)')$ ,  $a \equiv (q^-)'$ ,  $c \equiv (q^+)'$ ,  $\alpha \equiv -(q^-)'$  and  $\beta \equiv -(q^+)'$ . The primes indicate derivatives, which are calculated at  $\pm \Delta \phi$  for  $q^{\pm}$ , respectively. Stability of the wave solution is reduced to the sign of the real part of the *M* matrix eigenvalues.



**Chains of coupled oscillators.** A) Two types of coupling function  $q(\phi)$  that appear in Eq. 105. and Section 5.3. The blue curve is simply the first harmonic  $\sin(\phi)$ , which has two intercepts with a horizontal line, one with positive and the other with negative slope. The red curve shows the combination  $\sin(\phi) - 0.55\sin(2\phi) + 0.55\sin(3\phi)$  of the first three harmonics with coefficients that produce multiple (two) intercepts with positive slopes (full dots). Open dots indicate intercepts with negative slopes, which are unstable. B) The curve  $\phi_j(t)$  vs t for three different positions in the chain. The frequencies are  $\omega_2 = 1$ ,  $\omega_1 = 1 - 0.4$  and  $\omega_n = 1 + 0.4$ , the couplings  $q^+ = q^-$  and their profile is the red one of panel A). The predicted  $\omega = \omega_1 + \omega_n - \omega_2 = 1$  is well observed in simulations, with phase shifts among the spatial positions that are considered in the following panels. C) For initial conditions such as  $\phi_j = 0$  (purple curve), the selected solution of Eq. 21.  $q(\Delta \phi) = 0.4$  for the spatial phase shift  $\Delta \phi = \phi_j - \phi_{j-1}$  is  $\Phi_1$  in panel A). We remind that the local wave velocity is  $\propto -\omega/\Delta\phi$ . For initial conditions such as  $\phi_j = 2j$  (blue curve), the selected solution is  $\Delta \phi = \Phi_2$ . Finally, for an initial condition such as  $\phi_j = j$  (the unit slope being close to the middle unstable solution in panel A), we obtain a curve (red) that regularly alternates between the two solutions  $\Delta \phi = \Phi_1$  and  $\Delta \phi = \Phi_2$ , which yields an effective slope  $(\Phi_1 + \Phi_2)/2$ . **D**) For noisy initial conditions (shown in the inset), the profile  $\phi_i$  vs. j settles on a combination of solutions of  $q(\Delta \phi) = 0.4$ , including  $\Phi_1 + 2\pi$  at locations where the initial gradients are very steep. No constant-gradient (wave) solution is then observed.

The notation in Eq. 106. was chosen to match that of Ref. (163), where the spectrum of some tridiagonal matrices was worked out analytically. Our matrix 106. has the property that  $d^2 \equiv ac = \alpha\beta$ , which is in the list of those that admit an explicit solution (163). Specifically, the spectrum of eigenvalues  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$  are given by formula (40) in (163):

$$\lambda_m = b + 2d\cos\left(\frac{\pi m}{n}\right)$$
 for  $m = 1, \dots, n-1;$   $\lambda_n = b - (\alpha + \beta).$  107.

In our case, the last eigenvalue  $\lambda_n = 0$ . The corresponding eigenvector is verified to be  $(1, \ldots, 1)$ , which adds a constant phase to all the oscillators and has then a zero eigenvalue because it just amounts to a phase redefinition. As for the other n-1 eigenvalues, we have

$$\lambda_m = -\left(\left(q^+\right)' + \left(q^-\right)'\right) + 2\sqrt{\left(q^-\right)'\left(q^+\right)'}\cos\left(\frac{\pi m}{n}\right) \quad \text{for} \quad m = 1, \dots, n-1.$$
 108.

If both derivatives are positive, then all the n-1 non-trivial eigenvalues are negative and the wave solution is linearly stable. Vice versa, if both derivatives are negative then the solution is unstable. For q functions of the type shown in Fig. 11, this criterion selects the branch of the solutions of Eqs. 21.. For instance, in the simplest case  $q^+ = q^- = \sin(\Delta\phi)$ , stability limits  $\Delta\phi$  in the range  $(-\pi/2, \pi/2)$ . For functions like the red one in Fig. 11A, which are still odd but more structured, multiple wave solutions (or no wave) are possible. The frequency of oscillation  $\omega$  is the same for all of those solutions but the phase gradient  $\Delta\phi$  will differ (see Fig. 11C). Convergence to the various solutions is determined by the initial conditions. In the simplest cases,  $\Delta\phi$  is the same at all locations and a gradients ensues (see blue and purple curves in Fig. 11C). In the general case, the phase difference is not the same at all locations and no gradient is then observed (see red curve in Fig. 11C and Fig. 11D). Finally, in the general case where the functions are different and/or not odd, it is possible to have solutions where derivatives have different signs. The eigenvalues will then have an imaginary component but oscillatory fluctuations will still decay provided the sum  $(q^+)' + (q^-)' > 0$ .

The above analysis also applies to the case of waves where frequencies are equal ( $\omega_i = \omega_0$  for i = 1, ..., n), which requires some special forms of the couplings. Indeed, Eqs. 20. yield:

$$\omega = \omega_0 + q^+ (\Delta \phi) ; \qquad \omega = \omega_0 + q^- (-\Delta \phi) ; \qquad \omega = \omega_0 + q^+ (\Delta \phi) + q^- (-\Delta \phi) .$$
 109.

The equalities are equivalent to having  $q^+(\Delta \phi) = q^-(-\Delta \phi) = 0$  and  $\omega = \omega_0$ . In other words, the two functions  $q^{\pm}(\pm \Delta \phi)$  should have a joint zero at non-trivial values of the phase difference and derivatives at those zeros should satisfy the stability conditions 108..

#### DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Alexander Aulehla and Paul François for many enlightening discussions on the topics of this review. This research was supported in part by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. NSF PHY-1748958, NIH Grants No. 1R01-GM122936, 1R01-GM136763, R01-AR076342, and by the Shipley Foundation, Inc.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Abrams DM, Strogatz SH. 2006. Chimera states in a ring of nonlocally coupled oscillators. International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos 16:21–37
- 2. Adler R. 1946. A study of locking phenomena in oscillators. Proceedings of the IRE 34:351-357
- 3. Afanzar O, Buss GK, Stearns T, Ferrell J. E. J. 2020. The nucleus serves as the pacemaker for the cell cycle. *Elife* 9

- Aoki K, Kondo Y, Naoki H, Hiratsuka T, Itoh RE, Matsuda M. 2017. Propagating wave of erk activation orients collective cell migration. *Dev Cell* 43:305–317 e5
- Aranson IS, Kramer L. 2002. The world of the complex ginzburg-landau equation. Reviews of Modern Physics 74:99–143
- Aronson DG, Weinberger HF. 1975. Nonlinear diffusion in population genetics, combustion, and nerve pulse propagation. In *Partial Differential Equations and Related Topics*, ed. JA Goldstein. Springer Berlin Heidelberg
- Aulehla A, Wiegraebe W, Baubet V, Wahl MB, Deng C, et al. 2008. A beta-catenin gradient links the clock and wavefront systems in mouse embryo segmentation. Nat Cell Biol 10:186–93
- 8. Bailles A, Collinet C, Philippe JM, Lenne PF, Munro E, Lecuit T. 2019. Genetic induction and mechanochemical propagation of a morphogenetic wave. *Nature* 572:467–473
- Bailleul R, Curantz C, Desmarquet-Trin Dinh C, Hidalgo M, Touboul J, Manceau M. 2019. Symmetry breaking in the embryonic skin triggers directional and sequential plumage patterning. *PLoS Biol* 17:e3000448
- 10. Bender CM, Orszag SA. 1999. Advanced mathematical methods for scientists and engineers: asymptotic methods and perturbation theory. New York, NY: New York, NY : Springer
- Bischof J, Brand CA, Somogyi K, Majer I, Thome S, et al. 2017. A cdk1 gradient guides surface contraction waves in oocytes. *Nat Commun* 8:849
- Blythe SA, Wieschaus EF. 2015. Coordinating cell cycle remodeling with transcriptional activation at the drosophila mbt. Curr Top Dev Biol 113:113–48
- Boocock D, Hino N, Ruzickova N, Hirashima T, Hannezo E. 2021. Theory of mechanochemical patterning and optimal migration in cell monolayers. *Nature Physics* 17:267–274
- Briscoe J, Small S. 2015. Morphogen rules: design principles of gradient-mediated embryo patterning. Development 142:3996–4009
- 15. Brunet E, Derrida B. 1997. Shift in the velocity of a front due to a cutoff. *Physical Review E* 56:2597–2604
- Brunet E, Derrida B. 2001. Effect of microscopic noise on front propagation. Journal of Statistical Physics 103:269–282
- Carmo MPd. 2016. Differential geometry of curves and surfaces. Mineola, New York: Mineola, New York : Dover Publications, Inc.
- 18. Chang JB, Ferrell J. E. J. 2013. Mitotic trigger waves and the spatial coordination of the xenopus cell cycle. *Nature* 500:603–7
- Cherry EM, Fenton FH. 2008. Visualization of spiral and scroll waves in simulated and experimental cardiac tissue. New Journal of Physics 10:125016
- Chu LF, Mamott D, Ni Z, Bacher R, Liu C, et al. 2019. An in vitro human segmentation clock model derived from embryonic stem cells. *Cell Rep* 28:2247–2255 e5
- Cooke J, Zeeman EC. 1976. A clock and wavefront model for control of the number of repeated structures during animal morphogenesis. J Theor Biol 58:455–76
- Courant R, Hilbert D. 1962. Methods of mathematical physics. New York: New York, Interscience Publishers, 1953-62.
- Davidenko JM, Pertsov AV, Salomonsz R, Baxter W, Jalife J. 1992. Stationary and drifting spiral waves of excitation in isolated cardiac muscle. *Nature* 355:349–351
- De Simone A, Evanitsky MN, Hayden L, Cox BD, Wang J, et al. 2021. Control of osteoblast regeneration by a train of erk activity waves. *Nature* 590:129–133
- Deneke VE, Di Talia S. 2018. Chemical waves in cell and developmental biology. J Cell Biol 217:1193–1204
- Deneke VE, Melbinger A, Vergassola M, Di Talia S. 2016. Waves of cdk1 activity in s phase synchronize the cell cycle in drosophila embryos. *Dev Cell* 38:399–412
- Deneke VE, Puliafito A, Krueger D, Narla AV, De Simone A, et al. 2019. Self-organized nuclear positioning synchronizes the cell cycle in drosophila embryos. *Cell* 177:925–941 e17
- 28. Diaz-Cuadros M, Wagner DE, Budjan C, Hubaud A, Tarazona OA, et al. 2020. In vitro
- 48 Di Talia and Vergassola

characterization of the human segmentation clock. *Nature* 580:113–118

- Dockery JD, Keener JP. 1989. Diffusive effects on dispersion in excitable media. SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics 49:539–566
- Dufourt J, Bellec M, Trullo A, Dejean M, De Rossi S, et al. 2021. Imaging translation dynamics in live embryos reveals spatial heterogeneities. *Science* 372:840–844
- Eckhaus W. 1965. Studies in non-linear stability theory. Berlin New York: Berlin, New York, Springer-Verlag
- Edgar BA, Kiehle CP, Schubiger G. 1986. Cell cycle control by the nucleo-cytoplasmic ratio in early drosophila development. *Cell* 44:365–72
- El-Sherif E, Zhu X, Fu J, Brown SJ. 2014. Caudal regulates the spatiotemporal dynamics of pair-rule waves in tribolium. *PLoS Genet* 10:e1004677
- Ermentrout B. 1981. Stable small-amplitude solutions in reaction-diffusion systems. Quart. Appl. Math. 39:61–86
- 35. Ermentrout B, Terman DH. 2010. Mathematical foundations of neuroscience. New York: New York : Springer
- 36. Farahani PE, Reed EH, Underhill EJ, Aoki K, Toettcher JE. 2021. Signaling, deconstructed: Using optogenetics to dissect and direct information flow in biological systems. Annu Rev Biomed Eng
- 37. Farrell JA, O'Farrell PH. 2014. From egg to gastrula: how the cell cycle is remodeled during the drosophila mid-blastula transition. Annu Rev Genet 48:269–94
- Fasulo B, Koyama C, Yu KR, Homola EM, Hsieh TS, et al. 2012. Chk1 and weel kinases coordinate dna replication, chromosome condensation, and anaphase entry. *Mol Biol Cell* 23:1047–57
- Fife PC. 1979. Mathematical aspects of reacting and diffusing systems. Berlin New York: Berlin; New York: Springer-Verlag
- Fife PC. 1984. Propagator-controller systems and chemical patterns. In Non-Equilibrium Dynamics in Chemical Systems, eds. C Vidal, A Pacault. Springer Berlin Heidelberg
- Fife PC, McLeod JB. 1977. The approach of solutions of nonlinear diffusion equations to travelling front solutions. Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis 65:335–361
- FitzHugh R. 1961. Impulses and physiological states in theoretical models of nerve membrane. Biophysical Journal 1:445–466
- 43. Foe VE, Alberts BM. 1983. Studies of nuclear and cytoplasmic behaviour during the five mitotic cycles that precede gastrulation in drosophila embryogenesis. J Cell Sci 61:31–70
- 44. Foerster P, Müller SC, Hess B. 1989. Critical size and curvature of wave formation in an excitable chemical medium. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 86:6831–6834
- Frankel ML, Sivashinsky GI. 1987. On the nonlinear thermal diffusive theory of curved flames. J. Phys. France 48:25–28
- Frankel ML, Sivashinsky GI. 1988. On the equation of a curved flame front. Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena 30:28–42
- 47. Gagliardi PA, Dobrzynski M, Jacques MA, Dessauges C, Ender P, et al. 2021. Collective erk/akt activity waves orchestrate epithelial homeostasis by driving apoptosis-induced survival. Dev Cell
- Gallagher KD, Mani M, Carthew RW. 2021. Emergence of a geometric pattern of cell fates from tissue-scale mechanics in the drosophila eye. *bioRxiv* :2021.07.14.452386
- 49. Garcia-Ojalvo J, Sancho JM. 2012. Noise in spatially extended systems. New York: New York : Springer-Verlag
- Gavet O, Pines J. 2010. Progressive activation of cyclinb1-cdk1 coordinates entry to mitosis. Dev Cell 18:533–43
- Gelens L, Anderson GA, Ferrell J. E. J. 2014. Spatial trigger waves: positive feedback gets you a long way. Mol Biol Cell 25:3486–93
- 52. Gillespie DT. 2007. Stochastic simulation of chemical kinetics. Annu Rev Phys Chem 58:35–55

www.annualreviews.org • Waves in embryonic development 49

- Gomez C, Ozbudak EM, Wunderlich J, Baumann D, Lewis J, Pourquie O. 2008. Control of segment number in vertebrate embryos. *Nature* 454:335–9
- Greenwald EC, Mehta S, Zhang J. 2018. Genetically encoded fluorescent biosensors illuminate the spatiotemporal regulation of signaling networks. *Chem Rev* 118:11707–11794
- 55. Gregor T, Garcia HG, Little SC. 2014. The embryo as a laboratory: quantifying transcription in drosophila. *Trends Genet* 30:364–75
- Grimm O, Wieschaus E. 2010. The bicoid gradient is shaped independently of nuclei. Development 137:2857–62
- Guckenheimer J. 1975. Isochrons and phaseless sets. Journal of Mathematical Biology 1:259– 273
- 58. Guckenheimer J, Holmes P. 1983. Nonlinear oscillations, dynamical systems, and bifurcations of vector fields. New York: New York : Springer-Verlag
- 59. Hayden LD, Poss KD, De Simone A, Di Talia S. 2021. Mathematical modeling of erk activity waves in regenerating zebrafish scales. *Biophys J*
- Heim A, Rymarczyk B, Mayer TU. 2017. Regulation of cell division. Adv Exp Med Biol 953:83– 116
- 61. Hino N, Rossetti L, Marin-Llaurado A, Aoki K, Trepat X, et al. 2020. Erk-mediated mechanochemical waves direct collective cell polarization. *Dev Cell* 53:646–660 e8
- Hiratsuka T, Fujita Y, Naoki H, Aoki K, Kamioka Y, Matsuda M. 2015. Intercellular propagation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase activation revealed by in vivo imaging of mouse skin. *Elife* 4:e05178
- Ho WKW, Freem L, Zhao D, Painter KJ, Woolley TE, et al. 2019. Feather arrays are patterned by interacting signalling and cell density waves. *PLoS Biol* 17:e3000132
- Hodgkin AL, Huxley AF. 1952. A quantitative description of membrane current and its application to conduction and excitation in nerve. The Journal of physiology 117:500–544
- 65. Hoppensteadt FC, Izhikevich EM. 1997. Weakly connected neural networks. New York: Springer
- Hubaud A, Pourquie O. 2014. Signalling dynamics in vertebrate segmentation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15:709–21
- Hubaud A, Regev I, Mahadevan L, Pourquie O. 2017. Excitable dynamics and yap-dependent mechanical cues drive the segmentation clock. *Cell* 171:668–682 e11
- 68. Idema T, Dubuis JO, Kang L, Manning ML, Nelson PC, et al. 2013. The syncytial drosophila embryo as a mechanically excitable medium. *PLoS One* 8:e77216
- 69. Ishii M, Tateya T, Matsuda M, Hirashima T. 2021. Retrograde erk activation waves drive base-to-apex multicellular flow in murine cochlear duct morphogenesis. *Elife* 10
- 70. Izhikevich EM. 2014. Dynamical systems in neuroscience : the geometry of excitability and bursting. Cambridge: MIT Press
- 71. Jutras-Dube L, El-Sherif E, Francois P. 2020. Geometric models for robust encoding of dynamical information into embryonic patterns. *Elife* 9
- Kamenz J, Gelens L, Ferrell J. E. J. 2021. Bistable, biphasic regulation of pp2a-b55 accounts for the dynamics of mitotic substrate phosphorylation. *Curr Biol* 31:794–808 e6
- Karma A. 2013. Physics of cardiac arrhythmogenesis. Annual Review of Condensed Matter Physics 4:313–337
- Keener JP. 1986. A geometrical theory for spiral waves in excitable media. SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics 46:1039–1056
- Keener JP, Sneyd J. 2009. Mathematical physiology. New York London: New York ; London : Springer, 2009.
- Keener JP, Tyson JJ. 1986. Spiral waves in the belousov-zhabotinskii reaction. Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena 21:307–324
- Kessin RH. 2001. Dyctiostelium: evolution, cell biology, and the development of multicellularity. Cambridge University Press
- 50 Di Talia and Vergassola

- Kimura M. 1983. The neutral theory of molecular evolution. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- 79. Kopell N, Howard LN. 1973. Horizontal bands in the belousov reaction. Science 180:1171-3
- Kopell N, Howard LN. 1973. Plane wave solutions to reaction-diffusion equations. Studies in Applied Mathematics 52:291–328
- Krueger D, Izquierdo E, Viswanathan R, Hartmann J, Pallares Cartes C, De Renzis S. 2019. Principles and applications of optogenetics in developmental biology. *Development* 146
- Kuramoto Y. 1984. Chemical oscillations, waves, and turbulence. Berlin New York: Berlin; New York: Springer-Verlag
- Kuramoto Y, Battogtokh D. 2002. Coexistence of coherence and incoherence in nonlocally coupled phase oscillators. Nonlin. Phenom. Compl. Syst. 5:380–385
- Landau LD, Lifshits EM. 1958. Quantum mechanics, non-relativistic theory. London Reading, Mass.: London, Pergamon Press; Reading, Mass., Addison-Wesley Pub. Co.
- Lauschke VM, Tsiairis CD, Francois P, Aulehla A. 2013. Scaling of embryonic patterning based on phase-gradient encoding. *Nature* 493:101–5
- Lavoie H, Gagnon J, Therrien M. 2020. Erk signalling: a master regulator of cell behaviour, life and fate. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 21:607–632
- Lee MT, Bonneau AR, Giraldez AJ. 2014. Zygotic genome activation during the maternal-tozygotic transition. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 30:581–613
- Leptin M. 1999. Gastrulation in drosophila: the logic and the cellular mechanisms. EMBO J 18:3187–92
- Levine H, Rappel WJ. 2013. The physics of eukaryotic chemotaxis. *Physics today* 66:10.1063/PT.3.1884
- Lewis J. 2003. Autoinhibition with transcriptional delay: a simple mechanism for the zebrafish somitogenesis oscillator. Curr Biol 13:1398–408
- Li P, Elowitz MB. 2019. Communication codes in developmental signaling pathways. Development 146
- Lindner B, Garcia-Ojalvo J, Neiman A, Schimansky-Geier L. 2004. Effects of noise in excitable systems. *Physics Reports* 392:321–424
- Lord ND, Carte AN, Abitua PB, Schier AF. 2021. The pattern of nodal morphogen signaling is shaped by co-receptor expression. *Elife* 10
- Luther R. 1987. Propagation of chemical reactions in space. Journal of Chemical Education 64:740
- Maginu K. 1985. Geometrical characteristics associated with stability and bifurcations of periodic travelling waves in reaction-diffusion systems. SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics 45:750–774
- Maini PK, Baker RE, Schnell S. 2015. Rethinking models of pattern formation in somitogenesis. Cell Syst 1:248–9
- Maroto M, Dale JK, Dequeant ML, Petit AC, Pourquie O. 2005. Synchronised cycling gene oscillations in presonitic mesoderm cells require cell-cell contact. Int J Dev Biol 49:309–15
- Martin AC. 2020. The physical mechanisms of drosophila gastrulation: Mesoderm and endoderm invagination. *Genetics* 214:543–560
- 99. Martyn I, Brivanlou AH, Siggia ED. 2019. A wave of wnt signaling balanced by secreted inhibitors controls primitive streak formation in micropattern colonies of human embryonic stem cells. *Development* 146
- 100. Masamizu Y, Ohtsuka T, Takashima Y, Nagahara H, Takenaka Y, et al. 2006. Real-time imaging of the somite segmentation clock: revelation of unstable oscillators in the individual presomitic mesoderm cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:1313–8
- 101. Matsuda M, Hayashi H, Garcia-Ojalvo J, Yoshioka-Kobayashi K, Kageyama R, et al. 2020. Species-specific segmentation clock periods are due to differential biochemical reaction speeds. *Science* 369:1450–1455

- 102. Matsuda M, Yamanaka Y, Uemura M, Osawa M, Saito MK, et al. 2020. Recapitulating the human segmentation clock with pluripotent stem cells. *Nature* 580:124–129
- 103. McCleland ML, Shermoen AW, O'Farrell PH. 2009. Dna replication times the cell cycle and contributes to the mid-blastula transition in drosophila embryos. J Cell Biol 187:7–14
- 104. Mikhailov AS, Showalter K. 2006. Control of waves, patterns and turbulence in chemical systems. *Physics Reports* 425:79–194
- 105. Mittasch M, Gross P, Nestler M, Fritsch AW, Iserman C, et al. 2018. Non-invasive perturbations of intracellular flow reveal physical principles of cell organization. Nat Cell Biol 20:344– 351
- Mochida S, Hunt T. 2012. Protein phosphatases and their regulation in the control of mitosis. EMBO Rep 13:197–203
- 107. Mochida S, Maslen SL, Skehel M, Hunt T. 2010. Greatwall phosphorylates an inhibitor of protein phosphatase 2a that is essential for mitosis. *Science* 330:1670–3
- 108. Morgan DO. 2007. The cell cycle : principles of control. London Sunderland, MA: New Science Press
- 109. Muller P, Rogers KW, Jordan BM, Lee JS, Robson D, et al. 2012. Differential diffusivity of nodal and lefty underlies a reaction-diffusion patterning system. *Science* 336:721–4
- 110. Muller P, Rogers KW, Yu SR, Brand M, Schier AF. 2013. Morphogen transport. *Development* 140:1621–38
- 111. Murray AW, Kirschner MW. 1989. Cyclin synthesis drives the early embryonic cell cycle. Nature 339:275–80
- 112. Murray JD. 2013. Mathematical biology. i, i. [New York]: Springer-Verlag
- Murray PJ, Maini PK, Baker RE. 2011. The clock and wavefront model revisited. Journal of Theoretical Biology 283:227–238
- Nagumo J, Arimoto S, Yoshizawa S. 1962. An active pulse transmission line simulating nerve axon. Proceedings of the IRE 50:2061–2070
- Narayan SM, Krummen DE, Shivkumar K, Clopton P, Rappel WJ, Miller JM. 2012. Treatment of atrial fibrillation by the ablation of localized sources. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 60:628–636
- 116. Negrete J, Lengyel IM, Rohde L, Desai RA, Oates AC, Jülicher F. 2021. Theory of time delayed genetic oscillations with external noisy regulation. New Journal of Physics 23:033030
- 117. Negrete J. J, Oates AC. 2021. Towards a physical understanding of developmental patterning. Nat Rev Genet
- 118. Nolet FE, Vandervelde A, Vanderbeke A, Pineros L, Chang JB, Gelens L. 2020. Nuclei determine the spatial origin of mitotic waves. *Elife* 9
- 119. Novak B, Tyson JJ. 1993. Numerical analysis of a comprehensive model of m-phase control in xenopus oocyte extracts and intact embryos. J Cell Sci 106 ( Pt 4):1153–68
- Oates AC, Morelli LG, Ares S. 2012. Patterning embryos with oscillations: structure, function and dynamics of the vertebrate segmentation clock. *Development* 139:625–39
- O'Farrell PH. 2015. Growing an embryo from a single cell: A hurdle in animal life. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 7
- 122. O'Farrell PH, Stumpff J, Su TT. 2004. Embryonic cleavage cycles: how is a mouse like a fly? Curr Biol 14:R35–45
- 123. Ogura Y, Wen FL, Sami MM, Shibata T, Hayashi S. 2018. A switch-like activation relay of egfr-erk signaling regulates a wave of cellular contractility for epithelial invagination. *Dev Cell* 46:162–172 e5
- 124. Patel AL, Shvartsman SY. 2018. Outstanding questions in developmental erk signaling. *Development* 145
- Pietras B, Daffertshofer A. 2019. Network dynamics of coupled oscillators and phase reduction techniques. *Physics Reports* 819:1–105
- 126. Pikovsky A, Rosenblum M, Kurths J. 2003. Synchronization : a universal concept in nonlinear
- 52 Di Talia and Vergassola

sciences. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

- 127. Pomerening JR, Sontag ED, Ferrell J. E. J. 2003. Building a cell cycle oscillator: hysteresis and bistability in the activation of cdc2. Nat Cell Biol 5:346–51
- 128. Protter MH, Weinberger HF. 1984. Maximum principles in differential equations. New York; Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer
- 129. Puls O, Yang Q. 2018. The rise of ultrafast waves. Dev Cell 47:532-534
- Rankin S, Kirschner MW. 1997. The surface contraction waves of xenopus eggs reflect the metachronous cell-cycle state of the cytoplasm. Curr Biol 7:451–4
- Rata S, Suarez Peredo Rodriguez MF, Joseph S, Peter N, Echegaray Iturra F, et al. 2018. Two interlinked bistable switches govern mitotic control in mammalian cells. *Curr Biol* 28:3824– 3832 e6
- Regot S, Hughey JJ, Bajar BT, Carrasco S, Covert MW. 2014. High-sensitivity measurements of multiple kinase activities in live single cells. *Cell* 157:1724–34
- Rogers KW, Muller P. 2020. Optogenetic approaches to investigate spatiotemporal signaling during development. Curr Top Dev Biol 137:37–77
- 134. Rohde LA, Bercowsky-Rama A, Negrete J, Valentin G, Naganathan SR, et al. 2021. Cellautonomous generation of the wave pattern within the vertebrate segmentation clock. *bioRxiv* :2021.05.29.446196
- Roignant JY, Treisman JE. 2009. Pattern formation in the drosophila eye disc. Int J Dev Biol 53:795–804
- 136. Sanchez PGL, Mochulska V, Denis CM, Mönke G, Tomita T, et al. 2021. Arnold tongue entrainment reveals dynamical principles of the embryonic segmentation clock. *bioRxiv* :2021.10.20.465101
- 137. Sander K. 1971. Pattern formation in longitudinal halves of leaf hopper eggs (homoptera) and some remarks on the definition of "embryonic regulation". Wilhelm Roux Arch Entwickl Mech Org 167:336–352
- 138. Sanders JA, Verhulst F, Murdock JA. 2007. Averaging methods in nonlinear dynamical systems. New York: New York: Springer
- Sarrazin AF, Peel AD, Averof M. 2012. A segmentation clock with two-segment periodicity in insects. Science 336:338–41
- 140. Sha W, Moore J, Chen K, Lassaletta AD, Yi CS, et al. 2003. Hysteresis drives cell-cycle transitions in xenopus laevis egg extracts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:975–80
- Shamipour S, Caballero-Mancebo S, Heisenberg CP. 2021. Cytoplasm's got moves. Dev Cell 56:213–226
- Shih NP, Francois P, Delaune EA, Amacher SL. 2015. Dynamics of the slowing segmentation clock reveal alternating two-segment periodicity. *Development* 142:1785–93
- 143. Shimojo H, Kageyama R. 2016. Making waves toward the shore by synchronicity. Dev Cell 36:358–9
- 144. Shimojo H, Kageyama R. 2016. Oscillatory control of delta-like1 in somitogenesis and neurogenesis: A unified model for different oscillatory dynamics. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 49:76–82
- 145. Sibon OC, Laurencon A, Hawley R, Theurkauf WE. 1999. The drosophila atm homologue mei-41 has an essential checkpoint function at the midblastula transition. *Curr Biol* 9:302–12
- Sibon OC, Stevenson VA, Theurkauf WE. 1997. Dna-replication checkpoint control at the drosophila midblastula transition. *Nature* 388:93–7
- 147. Sonnen KF, Aulehla A. 2014. Dynamic signal encoding–from cells to organisms. Semin Cell Dev Biol 34:91–8
- Sonnen KF, Lauschke VM, Uraji J, Falk HJ, Petersen Y, et al. 2018. Modulation of phase shift between wnt and notch signaling oscillations controls mesoderm segmentation. *Cell* 172:1079– 1090 e12
- Soroldoni D, Jorg DJ, Morelli LG, Richmond DL, Schindelin J, et al. 2014. Genetic oscillations. a doppler effect in embryonic pattern formation. *Science* 345:222–5

www.annualreviews.org • Waves in embryonic development 53

- 150. Stapornwongkul KS, Vincent JP. 2021. Generation of extracellular morphogen gradients: the case for diffusion. *Nat Rev Genet* 22:393–411
- 151. Strogatz SH. 1994. Nonlinear dynamics and chaos : with applications to physics, biology, chemistry, and engineering. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge, MA : Westview Press
- 152. Strogatz SH. 2003. Sync : the emerging science of spontaneous order. New York: New York : Theia
- 153. Stumpff J, Duncan T, Homola E, Campbell SD, Su TT. 2004. Drosophila wee1 kinase regulates cdk1 and mitotic entry during embryogenesis. *Curr Biol* 14:2143–8
- 154. Takada S, Kwak S, Koppetsch BS, Theurkauf WE. 2007. grp (chk1) replication-checkpoint mutations and dna damage trigger a chk2-dependent block at the drosophila midblastula transition. *Development* 134:1737–44
- 155. Tam PPL. 1981. The control of somitogenesis in mouse embryos. Development 65:103-128
- 156. Tsiairis CD, Aulehla A. 2016. Self-organization of embryonic genetic oscillators into spatiotemporal wave patterns. *Cell* 164:656–67
- 157. Valon L, Davidovic A, Levillayer F, Villars A, Chouly M, et al. 2021. Robustness of epithelial sealing is an emerging property of local erk feedback driven by cell elimination. *Dev Cell*
- 158. Van Saarloos W. 1998. Three basic issues concerning interface dynamics in nonequilibrium pattern formation. *Physics Reports* 301:9–43
- 159. van Saarloos W, Hohenberg PC. 1992. Fronts, pulses, sources and sinks in generalized complex ginzburg-landau equations. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena* 56:303–367
- 160. Vergassola M, Deneke VE, Di Talia S. 2018. Mitotic waves in the early embryogenesis of drosophila: Bistability traded for speed. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 115:E2165–E2174
- Wigbers MC, Tan TH, Brauns F, Liu J, Swartz SZ, et al. 2021. A hierarchy of protein patterns robustly decodes cell shape information. *Nature Physics* 17:578–584
- 162. Wiley DA, Strogatz SH, Girvan M. 2006. The size of the sync basin. Chaos 16:015103
- 163. Willms AR. 2008. Analytic results for the eigenvalues of certain tridiagonal matrices. SIAM Journal on Matrix Analysis and Applications 30:639–656
- 164. Winfree AT. 1967. Biological rhythms and the behavior of populations of coupled oscillators. Journal of Theoretical Biology 16:15–42
- 165. Winfree AT. 1987. *The timing of biological clocks*. New York: New York : Scientific American Library : Distributed by W.H. Freeman
- 166. Winfree AT. 1994. Electrical turbulence in three-dimensional heart muscle. Science 266:1003-6
- Winfree AT. 1994. Persistent tangled vortex rings in generic excitable media. Nature 371:233– 236
- 168. Winfree AT. 2001. The geometry of biological time. New York: New York : Springer
- 169. Wolpert L. 1969. Positional information and the spatial pattern of cellular differentiation. J Theor Biol 25:1-47
- 170. Wu JQ, Guo JY, Tang W, Yang CS, Freel CD, et al. 2009. Pp1-mediated dephosphorylation of phosphoproteins at mitotic exit is controlled by inhibitor-1 and pp1 phosphorylation. Nat Cell Biol 11:644–51
- 171. Yu SR, Burkhardt M, Nowak M, Ries J, Petrasek Z, et al. 2009. Fgf8 morphogen gradient forms by a source-sink mechanism with freely diffusing molecules. *Nature* 461:533–6
- 172. Zinner M, Lukonin I, Liberali P. 2020. Design principles of tissue organisation: How single cells coordinate across scales. Curr Opin Cell Biol 67:37–45
- Zykov V, Morozova O. 1979. Speed of spread of excitation in a two-dimensional excitable medium. *Biophysics* 24:739–744
- 174. Zykov Va. 1980. Kinematics of the steady circulation in an excitable medium. *Biophysics* 25:906–911
- 54 Di Talia and Vergassola